ELSEVIER

Contents lists available at ScienceDirect

Science of the Total Environment



journal homepage: www.elsevier.com/locate/scitotenv

Review

Mercury in the marine environment of the Canadian Arctic: Review of recent findings



Birgit Braune ^{a,*}, John Chételat ^a, Marc Amyot ^b, Tanya Brown ^{c,d}, Meredith Clayden ^{e,1}, Marlene Evans ^f, Aaron Fisk ^g, Ashley Gaden ^h, Catherine Girard ^b, Alex Hare ^h, Jane Kirk ⁱ, Igor Lehnherr ^{j,2}, Robert Letcher ^a, Lisa Loseto ^k, Robie Macdonald ^c, Erin Mann ¹, Bailey McMeans ^{g,3}, Derek Muir ⁱ, Nelson O'Driscoll ¹, Alexandre Poulain ^m, Ken Reimer ^d, Gary Stern ^{h,k}

^a Environment Canada, National Wildlife Research Centre, Carleton University, Raven Road, Ottawa, Ontario, Canada K1A 0H3

^b Département de sciences biologiques, Université de Montréal, CP 6128, Succ. Centre-Ville Pavillon Marie-Victorin, Montreal, Quebec, Canada H3C 3 [7

^c Fisheries and Oceans Canada, Institute of Ocean Sciences, 9860 West Saanich Road, PO Box 6000, Sidney, British Columbia, Canada V8L 4B2

^f Environment Canada, National Water Research Institute, 11 Innovation Blvd., Saskatoon, Saskatchewan, Canada S7N 3H5

^g Great Lakes Institute for Environmental Research, University of Windsor, 401 Sunset Ave., Windsor, Ontario, Canada N9B 3P4

- ^h Centre for Earth Observation Science, 497 Wallace Bldg., University of Manitoba, Winnipeg, Manitoba, Canada R3T 2N2
- ⁱ Environment Canada, Canada Centre for Inland Waters, 867 Lakeshore Road, Burlington, Ontario, Canada L7R 4A6

^j Department of Biological Sciences, University of Alberta, Edmonton, Alberta, Canada T6G 2E9

^k Fisheries and Oceans Canada, Freshwater Institute, 501 University Crescent, Winnipeg, Manitoba, Canada R3T 2N6

¹ Department of Environmental Science, Acadia University, Wolfville, Nova Scotia, Canada B4P 2R6

^m Department of Biology, University of Ottawa, 30 Marie Curie, Ottawa, Ontario, Canada K1N 6N5

HIGHLIGHTS

- The water column in Arctic marine waters is important for mercury methylation.
- · Mercury deposited on marine snow pack is rapidly re-emitted to the atmosphere.
- Rates of mercury biomagnification were similar across Arctic marine food webs.
- Mercury is higher in Beaufort Sea biota than in other Canadian Arctic areas.
- Mercury in some marine biota has increased in recent decades.

ARTICLE INFO

Article history: Received 13 December 2013 Received in revised form 9 May 2014 Accepted 27 May 2014 Available online 19 June 2014

Keywords: Canadian Arctic Mercury Marine environment Biogeochemical processes Food webs Temporal trends

ABSTRACT

This review summarizes data and information which have been generated on mercury (Hg) in the marine environment of the Canadian Arctic since the previous Canadian Arctic Contaminants Assessment Report (CACAR) was released in 2003. Much new information has been collected on Hg concentrations in marine water, snow and ice in the Canadian Arctic. The first measurements of methylation rates in Arctic seawater indicate that the water column is an important site for Hg methylation. Arctic marine waters were also found to be a substantial source of gaseous Hg to the atmosphere during the ice-free season. High Hg concentrations have been found in marine snow as a result of deposition following atmospheric mercury depletion events, although much of this Hg is photoreduced and re-emitted back to the atmosphere. The most extensive sampling of marine sediments in the Canadian Arctic was carried out in Hudson Bay where sediment total Hg (THg) concentrations were low compared with other marine regions in the circumpolar Arctic. Mass balance models have been developed to provide quantitative estimates of THg fluxes into and out of the Arctic Ocean and Hudson Bay.

Several recent studies on Hg biomagnification have improved our understanding of trophic transfer of Hg through marine food webs. Over the past several decades, Hg concentrations have increased in some marine biota, while other populations showed no temporal change. Marine biota also exhibited considerable geographic

* Corresponding author. Tel.: +1 613 998 6694; fax: +1 613 998 0458.

¹ Current address: 5568 Falkland Street, Halifax, Nova Scotia, Canada B3K 1A5.

² Current address: Earth and Environmental Sciences, University of Waterloo, 200 University Ave. W, Waterloo, Ontario, Canada N2L 3G1.

³ Current address: Department of Integrative Biology, University of Guelph, Science Complex, Guelph, Ontario, Canada N1G 2W1.

http://dx.doi.org/10.1016/j.scitotenv.2014.05.133

0048-9697/Crown Copyright © 2014 Published by Elsevier B.V. This is an open access article under the CC BY-NC-ND license (http://creativecommons.org/licenses/by-nc-nd/4.0/).

^d Royal Military College of Canada, PO Box 17000, Station Forces, Kingston, Ontario, Canada K7K 7B4

^e Canadian Rivers Institute and Biology Department, University of New Brunswick, Saint John, New Brunswick, Canada E2L 4L5

E-mail address: birgit.braune@ec.gc.ca (B. Braune).

variation in Hg concentrations with ringed seals, beluga and polar bears from the Beaufort Sea region having higher Hg concentrations compared with other parts of the Canadian Arctic. The drivers of these variable patterns of Hg bioaccumulation, both regionally and temporally, within the Canadian Arctic remain unclear. Further research is needed to identify the underlying processes including the interplay between biogeochemical and food web processes and climate change.

Crown Copyright © 2014 Published by Elsevier B.V. This is an open access article under the CC BY-NC-ND license (http://creativecommons.org/licenses/by-nc-nd/4.0/).

Contents

1.	Introduction	68								
2.	Overview of the mercury cycle in the Arctic marine environment	69								
3.	Speciation of mercury in Arctic marine waters	70								
4. Sea ice and snowpack										
	4.1. Mercury in Arctic marine snow	70								
	4.2. Rapid re-emission of mercury from snow following Atmospheric Mercury Depletion Events (AMDEs)	71								
	4.3. Distribution of mercury in Arctic sea ice	71								
5.	Marine sediments	72								
6 Mass balance models										
	6.1 Mass balance estimates of mercury for the Arctic Ocean	72								
	62 Mercury hudget for Hudson Bay	73								
7	Rioreochemical cycling of mercury	73								
7.	71 Mathultion and demethylation	73								
	7.1. Meduyiaun and exidation	73								
	7.2. Reduction and oxidation	74								
	7.2.1. MICODIAI IEGOX PIOCESSES	74								
0	7.2.2. Photochemical redux processes	75								
δ.	Bioaccumulation and biomagnification of mercury									
9.	Food webs	/5								
	9.1. Trophic transfer of mercury through marine food webs in the Canadian Arctic	75								
	9.1.1. Cumberland Sound	75								
	9.1.2. Hudson Bay	75								
	9.1.3. Queens Channel	76								
	9.1.4. Eastern Beaufort Sea and Amundsen Gulf	76								
10.	Marine fish	77								
	10.1. Sea-run Arctic char	77								
	10.1.1. Spatial patterns	77								
	10.1.2. Temporal trends	77								
	10.2. Other marine fish	78								
11.	Marine birds	78								
	11.1. Interspecies comparisons	78								
	11.2. Spatial patterns	79								
	11.3 Temporal trends	80								
12	Arrine mammals	80								
	12.1 Historical trends of mercury in marine mammals	80								
	12.2 Ringed seal	80								
	1221 Tiscue selection and data adjustment	80								
	12.2.1. Itsue section and data aujustitent	Q1								
	12.2.2. Spatial patterns	01								
	12.2.5. Comparison of mercury concentrations in miged sear with other sear species	02								
	12.2.4. Temporal trends	82								
	12.3. Beluga	83								
	12.3.1. Beluga in Hudson Bay	83								
	12.3.2. Beluga in the western Arctic	83								
	12.4. Walrus	84								
	12.5. Narwhal	84								
	12.6. Polar bear	84								
	12.6.1. Spatial patterns	84								
	12.6.2. Temporal trends	85								
13.	Summary	86								
Ackno	owledgments	87								
References										

1. Introduction

The marine environment in the Canadian Arctic is truly vast and diverse. It includes deep basins and large shelves of the Arctic Ocean, many fjords, channels and straits in the Arctic Archipelago, Hudson Bay (the largest northern inland sea) and large, productive polynyas such as the North Water Polynya in Baffin Bay and the Bathurst Polynya in the Beaufort Sea. Over the last two decades, investigations of mercury (Hg) in these marine ecosystems have largely focussed on marine mammals and birds because of their dietary and cultural importance for northern Aboriginal peoples and the presence of elevated Hg concentrations in some animals. Marine mammals such as seals, beluga (*Delphinapterus leucas*), and polar bears (*Ursus maritimus*) generally have higher concentrations of Hg than terrestrial mammals and

freshwater fish, and this is related (at least in part) to their higher trophic position in marine food webs (Fisk et al., 2003; Muir et al., 1999). The potential health effects of environmental contaminants in human consumers of marine and other species in the Canadian Arctic have been previously reviewed (Donaldson et al., 2010) and will not be discussed further here.

Previous studies under Canada's Northern Contaminants Program (NCP) identified geographic variation in Hg bioaccumulation among populations of marine species, although the factors driving these differences remain poorly resolved. Annual monitoring of key marine species during Phase III (2002 to 2009) of the NCP has strengthened the temporal trend datasets for the marine environment. Those datasets have shown recent increases in Hg concentrations in some Arctic animals but not in others. The reasons for these varying trends among Arctic species and populations are unclear but are likely related, at least in part, to changes in Hg deposition and, in part, to changes in the Hg cycle after deposition. Research conducted since the last Canadian Arctic Contaminants Assessment Report (CACAR II) (Fisk et al., 2003) suggests that climate change may be affecting marine food webs with consequences for Hg bioaccumulation in seabirds and seals. In this review, we summarize recent data and information for Hg in both abiotic and biotic compartments of the marine environment in the Canadian Arctic. Recent progress on our understanding of the biological effects of Hg in fish and wildlife in the Canadian Arctic is reviewed by Scheuhammer et al. (2015-in this issue).

2. Overview of the mercury cycle in the Arctic marine environment

The movement of Hg through the marine environment is complex because of the sheer size and open-nature of the system, the multiple pathways and transformations that deliver and export Hg, and the diverse habitats, which include estuaries, continental shelves, deep ocean basins, and sea ice, each of which possesses different conditions for Hg processing. In addition, it is likely that Hg cycling in the Arctic is strongly affected by environmental characteristics such as seasonality in primary production and light (ranging from 24-hour darkness to 24hour sunlight), the extent of ocean ice cover, the intensity and timing of atmospheric mercury depletion events (AMDEs), and proximity of large river inputs (Douglas et al., 2012). There has long been limited empirical information on Hg cycling in the Arctic marine environment (Macdonald and Loseto, 2010), with the result that concepts of its cycle have been extrapolated from knowledge developed through studies in other oceans (e.g. Fitzgerald et al., 2007; Morel et al., 1998; Sunderland and Mason, 2007). Recently, significant progress has been made in understanding sources of methylmercury (MeHg), the form of greatest toxicological concern, following the discovery that it is produced from inorganic Hg within the oxic water column. Profiles of total Hg and MeHg collected in the Mediterranean Sea, the North Pacific Ocean and the Southern Ocean (Cossa et al., 2009, 2011; Sunderland et al., 2009) all show a strong connection between MeHg and organic regeneration indicated by nutrient maxima/oxygen minima. We now know that methylation processes take place within the water column of the Arctic Ocean and its marginal seas, and that the resultant concentrations of MeHg depend greatly on local processes including organic matter remineralization, which favors methylation, and solar radiation which favors demethylation (Kirk et al., 2008, 2012; Lehnherr et al., 2011; St. Louis et al., 2007; Wang et al., 2012).

Atmospheric, terrestrial, and oceanic pathways deliver Hg to Arctic marine waters, primarily as divalent inorganic Hg [Hg(II)] (Fig. 1). In marine waters, Hg(II) is sequestered, transformed, or removed from the system by: 1) reduction to elemental Hg [Hg(0)] and evasion to the atmosphere; 2) sedimentation of particulate-bound Hg; 3) transformation to monomethylmercury (MeHg) and dimethylmercury (Me₂Hg); and, 4) export to the Atlantic Ocean via ocean currents and ice. The production of MeHg and Me₂Hg may also occur in anoxic sediments (Fitzgerald et al., 2007; Mason et al., 2006). Methylmercury in the ocean water column can be broken down to Hg(II) by photodemethylation or by biotic demethylation (Lehnherr et al., 2011). Although it is impeded by ice cover during the long Arctic winter, evasion of Hg(0) from surface waters to the atmosphere is an important



Fig. 1. Schematic diagram of major pathways and transformations in the Hg cycle for Arctic marine ecosystems. Large shaded arrows refer to atmospheric or oceanic transport pathways that exchange Hg with the global environment and move Hg between reservoirs within the Arctic Ocean. Small black arrows refer to biogeochemical processes that transform Hg into different species. Source: AMAP (2011).

flux driven by microbial or light-induced processes (Andersson et al., 2008; Fitzgerald et al., 2007; Sommar et al., 2010; Sunderland and Mason, 2007). It has been proposed that sea ice may be important habitat for Hg cycling in the Arctic marine environment (Chaulk et al., 2011; Macdonald and Loseto, 2010; Poulain et al., 2007a).

Algae and bacteria are the main entry points for uptake of aqueous MeHg in marine food webs (Atwell et al., 1998; Campbell et al., 2005). These microorganisms transfer MeHg to zooplankton in the water column, to benthic invertebrates on sediment and rock substrates, and to crustaceans such as amphipods and copepods that are associated with sea ice. Methylmercury is then further biomagnified to higher trophic level consumers, namely fish, marine mammals, and seabirds.

3. Speciation of mercury in Arctic marine waters

An extensive survey was recently conducted of water-column concentrations of total Hg (THg), gaseous elemental Hg (GEM), and methylated Hg (both MeHg and Me₂Hg) throughout the Canadian Arctic Archipelago and Hudson Bay to examine potential zones of production and/or destruction of different Hg species (Kirk et al., 2008). Concentrations of THg were low throughout the water column in both the Arctic Archipelago and Hudson Bay (mean \pm standard deviation: 0.39 \pm 0.40 and 0.42 \pm 0.53 ng L $^{-1}$, respectively). Concentrations of GEM were low in surface waters and varied little among sites, averaging 25.4 ± 10.2 pg L⁻¹ in the Arctic Archipelago and 29.6 ± 5.0 pg L⁻¹ in Hudson Bay. In deeper regions of the water column, concentrations of GEM were variable, ranging from below the method detection limit to 133 pg L⁻¹, and averaging 34.3 ± 29.7 pg L⁻¹ in the Arctic Archipelago and 26.5 \pm 24.5 pg L⁻¹ in Hudson Bay. In addition, concentrations of GEM at different depths within the same site often varied greatly. Therefore, biotic and/or abiotic processes responsible for net GEM production varied both geographically and with depth in the water column. Although reduction of Hg(II) is likely the dominant source of GEM in marine waters, photodegradation of MeHg (Chen et al., 2003) and Me₂Hg at the surface as well as biotic and/or abiotic reductive demethylation may also produce GEM deep in the water column (Mason et al., 1998).

Throughout both the Arctic Archipelago and Hudson Bay, concentrations of methylated Hg and Me₂Hg were generally low in surface waters $(23.8 \pm 9.9 \text{ and } 4.7 \pm 4.4 \text{ pg L}^{-1}$, respectively) but increased with depth (maximum: 178 and 170 pg L⁻¹, respectively; mean: 70.3 \pm 37.3 and 56.8 \pm 37.8 pg L⁻¹, respectively) (Kirk et al., 2008). This suggests that methylated Hg species are produced in intermediate Arctic marine waters and/or sediments. In addition, the percent of THg in a methylated form was high (maximum: 66%; mean: $28 \pm 16\%$) and was associated with extremely low concentrations of THg at mid and bottom depths. Similarly high percentages of THg as MeHg were observed in deep waters of the Southern Ocean (Cossa et al., 2011). For the Arctic Ocean, oceanographic processes, such as water regeneration and vertical mixing, were shown to affect Hg distribution in marine waters (Kirk et al., 2008). In particular, the rapid kinetics measured for methylation and demethylation of Hg(II) (Lehnherr et al., 2011) strongly suggests that local processes likely drive MeHg concentrations and exposure, and THg and MeHg profiles collected in the southern Beaufort Sea support this hypothesis (Wang et al., 2012). Production of MeHg in intermediate waters where organic matter is regenerated may, therefore, be an important source of MeHg to organisms like zooplankton which feed in the surface mixed layer, where primary production is generally greatest (Michel et al., 2006). Me₂Hg may also evade to the atmosphere to be deposited on land, undergoing decomposition by sunlight (Fig. 1) (Niki et al., 1983a,b; St. Louis et al., 2007).

Instantaneous fluxes of gaseous Hg species from the ocean to the atmosphere were calculated to determine if Arctic marine waters are a source for atmospheric Hg. Ocean–atmosphere fluxes of both GEM and Me₂Hg were high (range: 2.6–388 and 0.2–176 ng m⁻² day⁻¹, respectively; average: 130 \pm 138 and 27.3 \pm 47.8 ng m⁻² day⁻¹,

respectively), demonstrating that marine waters of the Arctic Archipelago and Hudson Bay region are a substantial source of gaseous Hg to the atmosphere during the ice-free season (Kirk et al., 2008). Likewise, waters of the western Arctic Ocean in summer tend to be in a state of over-saturation, with sea-ice at times inhibiting the evasion of Hg(0)to the atmosphere (Andersson et al., 2008). These authors also showed that the Mackenzie River plume exhibits high dissolved Hg(0), consistent with recent model estimates showing that Arctic rivers are major sources of Hg to coastal regions (Fisher et al., 2012). Reduction of this riverine Hg may, therefore, provide the means to evade a portion to the atmosphere, thus reducing the input of Hg from land to ocean. Interestingly, average ocean-atmosphere GEM fluxes in these regions of the Arctic were higher than those calculated previously for the North Atlantic, Mediterranean, and Baltic waters $(2.8-94.7 \text{ ng m}^{-2} \text{ day}^{-1})$ (Cossa et al., 1997; Kuss and Schneider, 2007; Mason et al., 2001). Average ocean-atmosphere Me₂Hg fluxes for the Arctic Archipelago and Hudson Bay were also higher than previous estimates for the Arctic, Antarctic, and Atlantic Oceans (2.8–4.9 ng m⁻² day⁻¹) (Pongratz and Heumann, 1998a). Further, the Arctic ocean-atmosphere fluxes of GEM and Me₂Hg were determined during the open-water season and are likely lower than fluxes directly after ice-out when substantial degassing may occur of gaseous Hg species trapped under the sea ice throughout winter (St. Louis et al., 2007). In fact, concentrations of Me₂Hg (11.1 \pm 4.1 pg L⁻¹) and GEM (129 \pm 36 pg L⁻¹) measured by St. Louis et al. (2007) under the sea ice near Resolute Bay (Nunavut) were higher than those measured in ice-free surface waters of the Arctic Archipelago and Hudson Bay.

4. Sea ice and snowpack

4.1. Mercury in Arctic marine snow

Recent investigations of snow on sea ice and in Arctic coastal areas suggest that inorganic Hg accumulation is enhanced in marine snow relative to the terrestrial environment (Poulain et al., 2007b; St. Louis et al., 2007). Concentrations of THg in excess of 50 ng L^{-1} have been commonly reported for snow on sea ice (Kirk et al., 2006; Lu et al., 2001; St. Louis et al., 2007) but are rare for inland snowpack and have not been observed in glacier ice or snow in the Canadian Arctic (see Gamberg et al., in this issue). Higher snow THg concentrations may occur in the marine environment because of AMDEs which are a result of atmospheric photochemical reactions involving marine halogens (Ariya et al., 2004; Lindberg et al., 2002; Simpson et al., 2007). Marine halogens, particularly chloride, may also affect Hg transformations in the snowpack by limiting Hg evasion through the formation of chloride-Hg complexes that are less susceptible to photoreduction (Bartels-Rausch et al., 2011; Poulain et al., 2007c; St. Louis et al., 2007) or by favoring the photooxidation of GEM (Amyot et al., 2003; Lalonde et al., 2004). In an extensive snow survey in the Canadian High Arctic, St. Louis et al. (2007) found a strong positive correlation between snow chloride and THg concentrations consistent with experimental observations of a chloride effect on Hg(II) retention. Interestingly, MeHg concentrations in snowpacks were not related to chloride concentration (St. Louis et al., 2007).

In a laboratory-based study, Mann et al. (in this issue) determined that Hg photoreduction rate constants in snow from Resolute Bay, NU, ranged between $0.07-0.55 h^{-1}$ for snow that was irradiated with $1.26-5.78 W m^{-2}$ of constant ultra violet (UV) irradiation (280-400 nm) while frozen, and $0.03-0.57 h^{-1}$ for snow that was melted before being irradiated, assuming pseudo-first order reaction kinetics. It was further determined that Hg reduction rate constants in Arctic snow do not have a simple linear relationship with increasing UV intensity, but rather that the highest rates of Hg photoreduction are found at low and high UV intensities, with a minimum located between 3 and 4 W m⁻². The total amount of Hg photoreduced in snow does, however, increase linearly with increasing UV intensity. The

chemical composition of the snow appears to influence both the rate constant and the proportion of Hg in snow that is photoreducible. Snow with higher chloride concentrations had a lower percentage of photoreduced Hg, while the rate constant for photochemical oxidation of Hg(0) was higher in snow with the highest chloride content. Rate constants for Hg(0) photooxidation in melted snow exposed to 5.78 W m^{-2} UV radiation ranged between 0.09 and 0.17 h⁻¹. It was further noted that melting the snow appeared to influence the proportion of Hg that was photoreducible. In addition, when comparing frozen and melted snow samples, frozen snow generally had a greater overall photoreducible Hg amount compared to melted snow of the same composition. The photochemical dynamics of mercury in snow are further discussed in a recent review by Mann et al. (2014).

While THg is often most concentrated in the surface layer, the middle stratum and depth hoar—a layer of large crystals at the base of the snowpack—can also be dominant Hg reservoirs in marine snow (Table 1). High THg in lower snowpack layers may be due to Hg(II) deposited during AMDEs which penetrates into snowpacks (St. Louis et al., 2005). Strong winds may also cause wind pumping and enhance the transfer of reactive gaseous Hg (RGM) and particulate Hg (PHg) into deeper snow layers. Burial through snow accumulation, sublimation, condensation, and ice-layer formation are other processes that promote Hg retention in the snowpack (Douglas et al., 2008, 2012). In contrast with THg, average MeHg concentrations were generally low (<0.1 ng L⁻¹) in both surface and deeper layers of marine snowpack on Hudson Bay and in the Canadian High Arctic (Kirk et al., 2006; St. Louis et al., 2007).

Areal loads of THg and MeHg in snow were estimated to determine their importance as a source of Hg to Arctic marine waters during spring melt. In the High Arctic, median loads in snowpacks were estimated at 5.2 mg THg ha⁻¹ and 0.03 mg MeHg ha⁻¹ (St. Louis et al., 2007), while in Hudson Bay, the average snow THg loading was 2.1 mg ha⁻¹ (Kirk et al., 2006). These areal loads from snow were relatively low in comparison to annual wet deposition rates at lower North American latitudes which range from 22 to 200 mg THg ha⁻¹ (Mercury Deposition Network data, as cited in St. Louis et al., 2007). These authors concluded that, overall, snow likely contributes low amounts to the marine pools of Hg in the Arctic Archipelago and Hudson Bay (Kirk et al., 2006; St. Louis et al., 2007).

4.2. Rapid re-emission of mercury from snow following Atmospheric Mercury Depletion Events (AMDEs)

Due to the deposition of atmospheric Hg(II) to snowpacks during AMDEs, average THg concentrations in surface snow collected 1 km

offshore on Hudson Bay sea ice near Churchill, Manitoba, in the spring of 2003 and 2004, as well as THg measured in snow samples from different layers of snowpacks at sites located 2.5, 5, and 7 km from the shore-line in the spring of 2004, were quite high and variable in both years (in 2003: 111.4 \pm 161.2 ng L⁻¹, n = 23; in 2004: 40.7 \pm 69.7 ng L⁻¹, n = 59) (Kirk et al., 2006).

In spring of 2004, atmospheric Hg species were continuously monitored in surface snow at the site 1 km offshore on Hudson Bay sea ice (Kirk et al., 2006). At this site, concentrations of THg in snow averaged 67.7 ± 97.7 ng L⁻¹ during AMDEs. However, following the end of each AMDE, average concentrations of THg in surface snow declined dramatically and, by four or more days after AMDEs, were only 4.25 \pm 1.85 ng L^{-1} . Total Hg concentrations in meltwater collected at spring snowmelt were low in both years. In 2003, THg concentrations in two meltwater samples were only 7.54 and 3.49 ng L^{-1} respectively (n = 2), and in 2004, THg concentrations in meltwater averaged 3.31 ± 1.35 ng L⁻¹ (n = 4). Although AMDEs resulted in deposition of Hg(II) into the upper layers of the snowpack, they did not alter MeHg concentrations in snow because GEM is not transformed directly to MeHg. In fact, MeHg concentrations in snow were often below the method detection limit of 0.015 ng L^{-1} . On several days following snowfall events, wet precipitation appeared to increase MeHg concentrations in surface snow to between approximately 0.06–0.11 ng L^{-1} (n = 30).

4.3. Distribution of mercury in Arctic sea ice

A detailed study of Hg dynamics in Arctic sea ice conducted in the Beaufort Sea by Chaulk et al. (2011) sampled a range of ice types: newly formed ice, first year ice (both drifting and landfast), and multi-year ice. Despite the variation of ice types, ice characteristics (thickness, stage of ice formation, extent of snow cover) and ambient air temperatures, THg in ice was consistently low $(0.5-4 \text{ ng L}^{-1})$, with the highest concentrations found in the surface layer. Local AMDEs observed at the time of sampling did not appear to strongly impact THg concentrations in new ice or surface seawater. However, brine in the sea ice was substantially more concentrated in THg (2.6–71.2 ng L⁻¹), with higher concentrations found in more saline brines. The formation of brine pockets and channels was found to be an important process for Hg movement within the ice pack.

Sea-ice accumulation of Hg may potentially be driven by three major processes: 1) freeze rejection of Hg from seawater; 2) scavenging of atmospheric Hg by exposed ice surfaces; or, 3) leaching of Hg from overlying snow (Chaulk et al., 2011). Evidence collected from the ice survey in the Beaufort Sea suggested that freeze rejection from seawater

Table 1

Comparison of THg concentrations in different layers of the snowpack (surface [S], middle stratum [M], depth hoar [D]) at various sea ice locations in the Canadian Arctic. Observations are presented in order of increasing concentrations (mean ± 1 standard deviation, *n* in parentheses) in the surface layer. Modified from AMAP (2011).

Location	Date	Snow	/ THg concentration (n	Rank of	Reference		
		Surface	Middle stratum	Depth hoar	snow strata		
Resolute, NU	June 9, 2004	$1.8 \pm 0.6 (3)$	$4.9 \pm 0.5 (3)$	45.2 ± 13.1 (3)	D > M > S	Poulain et al. (2007b)	
Allman Bay, NU	May 10, 2004	3.6(1)	0.3 (1)	0.6(1)	S > D > M	St. Louis et al. (2007)	
Talbot Inlet, NU	May 10, 2004	4.5 (1)	0.4 (1)	7.9(1)	D > S > M	St. Louis et al. (2007)	
Alert, NU	April 12, 2002	5.7 (1)	0.4 (1)	2.5 (1)	S > D > M	St. Louis et al. (2005)	
Buchannan Bay, NU	May 10, 2004	6.1 (1)	1.3 (1)	5.4 (1)	S > D > M	St. Louis et al. (2007)	
Norwegian Bay, NU	May 16, 2004	8.0 (1)	8.1 (1)	1.2 (1)	M > S > D	St. Louis et al. (2007)	
Alert, NU	April 22, 2002	11.1 (1)	21.1 (1)	1.3 (1)	M > S > D	St. Louis et al. (2005)	
Eureka Sound, NU	May 16, 2004	15.9 (1)	1.4 (1)	9.8 (1)	S > D > M	St. Louis et al. (2007)	
Bay Fiord, NU	May 16, 2004	19.8 (1)	18.1 (1)	48.6(1)	D > S > M	St. Louis et al. (2007)	
Churchill, MB	March 31, April 16, May 22-23, 2004	21.4 ± 27.2 (9)	15.2 ± 13.8 (9)	$10.6 \pm 9.6 (9)$	S > M > D	Kirk et al. (2006)	
Wellington Channel, NU	May 16, 2004	66.4 (1)	3.3 (1)	2.3 (1)	S > M > D	St. Louis et al. (2007)	
Jones Sound, NU	May 11, 2004	78.2 (1)	8.0(1)	17.1 (1)	S > D > M	St. Louis et al. (2007)	
Makinson Inlet, NU	May 10, 2004	150 (1)	253 (1)	281(1)	D > M > S	St. Louis et al. (2007)	

Note: Concentrations in each layer were measured in the same snowpack on a single sampling date except observations at Churchill which are means of multiple sampling dates and/or snowpacks.

and, in some cases, leaching from the overlying snow contributed to the observed Hg concentrations. Surface enrichment of sea ice was a ubiquitous phenomenon, probably due to the enrichment of brine and particles in surface frazil ice. No evidence was found for efficient scavenging of atmospheric Hg in newly formed frazel ice, although Douglas et al. (2008) observed very high THg concentrations in ice crystal formations (surface hoar, frost flowers, diamond dust) on the Alaskan coast. Brine pockets and channels, which concentrate Hg, are also important microbial niches in sea ice. It has been proposed that these Hg-rich environments may be key sites for microbial transformation and uptake of Hg into the pelagic, ice-based food web (Chaulk et al., 2011; Macdonald and Loseto, 2010; Poulain et al., 2007a).

5. Marine sediments

Little information exists on Hg concentrations in marine sediments from the Canadian Arctic, and the largest dataset currently available is for Hudson Bay. The first sediment investigations in Hudson Bay were conducted by Lockhart et al. (1998) and Stewart and Lockhart (2005) who reported THg concentrations in three cores taken from the southeastern region in 1992 and 1993. An additional 13 cores were collected in 2005 by Hare et al. (2008, 2010) (Fig. 2).

In Hudson Bay, sediment THg ranged from 8 to 58 ng g^{-1} dry weight (dw) with a mean of 26 ng g^{-1} (n = 325) (Hare et al., 2008, 2010; Lockhart et al., 1998; Stewart and Lockhart, 2005). These values were at the low end of concentrations observed in other sediment studies on the Arctic Ocean, the Beaufort Shelf, and along the Greenland coast (Fig. 3). The Hudson Bay values were also low compared to THg concentrations in freshwater sediments observed across the Canadian Arctic (see Chételat et al., in this issue). Such low concentrations of sediment Hg in Hudson Bay likely reflect low geological inputs from the watershed and low concentrations of incoming particulate matter accumulating in the sediments.

Spatial variation of THg in Hudson Bay sediments appears to be largely controlled by the sorting of Hg-bearing particles from the water column. Surface THg concentrations were positively related to the fraction of surficial silt and clay (percent $< 63 \mu$ m) and to water depth, but not distance offshore. Two deepwater cores from depths >400 m in the Hudson Strait were exceptions and had low silt and



Fig. 2. Concentrations of THg (ng g⁻¹ dw) in surface sediment cores sampled from various locations in Hudson Bay and Hudson Strait. Data from Hare et al. (2010).



Fig. 3. Ranges of sediment THg concentrations in Hudson Bay (Hare et al., 2010) and other marine regions in the circumpolar Arctic, specifically the Arctic Ocean (Gobeil et al., 1999), the Beaufort Shelf (Macdonald and Thomas, 1991), and the Greenland coast (Asmund and Nielsen, 2000).

clay content and low sediment Hg concentrations for their depth. Sediments in the Hudson Strait may receive particles from a different source such as ice-rafted particulate matter from the shallow Foxe Basin (Kuzyk et al., 2008).

Vertical profiles of THg in Hudson Bay sediments were examined for historical changes related to atmospheric deposition of anthropogenic Hg (Hare et al., 2010). Sediment mixing processes were modeled to determine the simplest chronology of Hg inputs that could explain the observed vertical THg profiles in Hudson Bay sediments. The model assumed steady sedimentation and mixing rates over time, and negligible diagenetic alteration of Hg relative to biomixing. These assumptions were supported by several recent geochemical studies of the same core set (Kuzyk et al., 2008, 2009). The modeled chronologies demonstrated that stable Hg concentrations existed in most cores at sediment depths accumulated before the industrial age (circa 150 years ago). In these cores, sediment THg fluxes increased during the early years of the Industrial Era-1870 to 1930-followed by stable or declining Hg inputs toward the end of the 20th Century. The flux patterns were consistent with general historical patterns of anthropogenic Hg emissions in North America. Several other cores in Hudson Bay displayed consistent increases in THg concentration in deep sediment accumulated before the Industrial Era. Concomitant increases in the proportion of marine carbon in some of the latter cores suggest that natural changes in the materials incorporated into sediments can increase THg concentrations by as much as those increases sustained by anthropogenic loading. Based on differences between background and surface THg concentrations, Hare et al. (2010) estimated that Hudson Bay has accumulated 52-80 t of anthropogenic Hg in its sediments since the onset of the Industrial Era, an amount deemed small relative to recent annual rates of anthropogenic Hg emissions in North America.

6. Mass balance models

To date, two mass balance mercury budgets have been proposed for the Arctic Ocean (Fisher et al., 2012; Outridge et al., 2008) and one for Hudson Bay (Hare et al., 2008).

6.1. Mass balance estimates of mercury for the Arctic Ocean

Outridge et al. (2008) calculated a Hg budget using an inventory of THg in the Arctic Ocean based on a reasonably well-balanced sediment and water budget (Stein and Macdonald, 2004), fluxes for various

pathways estimated from THg concentrations, fluxes of media obtained through a comprehensive literature survey, and a modified version of the Global/Regional Atmospheric Heavy Metal (GRAHM) model (Dastoor and Larocque, 2004) to estimate the net atmospheric flux of THg into the Arctic Ocean. They concluded that atmospheric deposition and coastal erosion were the two largest sources of Hg to the Arctic Ocean, contributing 48% (98 t y⁻¹) and 23% (47 t y⁻¹), respectively, of the total annual Hg input. The GRAHM model incorporated a reemission term of 133 t y⁻¹ (volatilization of Hg from snowpack, snowmelt, and runoff, equivalent to 55% of gross deposition) and evasion term of 12 t y⁻¹. Rivers were a minor source, collectively contributing only 6% (13 t y⁻¹) of the total annual Hg input. Sedimentation was the largest Hg sink, removing 59% (182 t y⁻¹) from the Arctic Ocean by all processes.

In contrast, computations made by Fisher et al. (2012) using a coupled ocean-atmosphere model (GEOS-Chem) suggested that rivers (80 t y^{-1}) were the most important source of Hg to the Arctic Ocean $(70^{\circ}-90^{\circ} \text{ N})$, followed by the atmosphere (45 t y⁻¹ net deposition $[25 \text{ t y}^{-1} \text{ through direct deposition and } 20 \text{ t y}^{-1} \text{ through meltwater}$ inputs of atmospheric Hg deposited on snow/ice surfaces]) and coastal erosion (15 t y^{-1}). Further, Fisher et al. (2012) reported that evasion of Hg from the surface ocean (90 t y^{-1}) and particle settling (43 t y^{-1}) were the most important processes removing Hg from surface ocean waters. However, it is important to understand that because of a lack of data for vast regions of the Arctic, these estimates cannot yet be validated using field measurements and represent an evolving understanding of the various Hg sources and sinks to the Arctic Ocean. Further, the large difference between model results and field measurements of atmospheric inputs in these budgets underscores what is widely regarded as one of the central uncertainties in marine Arctic Hg science-what is the actual net deposition from the atmosphere that accumulates in the water? More work using a variety of methodological approaches is essential to resolve the uncertainty in the atmospheric Hg contribution to Arctic ecosystems, especially since this flux should be most immediately affected by emission controls.

6.2. Mercury budget for Hudson Bay

Mass balances of THg were modeled for Hudson Bay to investigate pre-industrial and contemporary sources and pathways of THg and their sensitivity to projected climate change (Hare et al., 2008). Estimates of atmospheric deposition, mass exchange of marine water, river inputs, and sedimentation of THg were primarily based on measurements taken within the Hudson Bay system by Hare et al. (2008), Kirk et al. (2006), and Sanei et al. (2010), while estimates of Hg fluxes from coastal erosion and surface water evasion were modeled from measurements taken in similar marine environments (Hare et al., 2008).

The net Hg influx to and flux out of Hudson Bay in pre-industrial times were both estimated at 3.4 t y⁻¹ and appear to have been in a steady state over decades to centuries based on post-glacial sediment cores showing consistent THg concentrations in depths not reached by contemporary inputs (Hare et al., 2008, 2010). Pre-industrial Hg fluxes appear to have been dominated by the resuspension of shallow coastal sediments in the south (<2 t y⁻¹) and relatively low inputs from rivers and marine water masses (<1 t y⁻¹ each). Primary Hg losses from the system occurred through sedimentation and mass export of marine water (~2 and 1 t y⁻¹, respectively). The net exchange of Hg between the ocean and atmosphere estimated by Hare et al. (2008) was the least-constrained flux because models and field data range widely, but most likely contributed a negligible net amount of Hg during the pre-Industrial Era (0.1 t y⁻¹).

The total contemporary Hg influx and outflux, estimated at 6.3 t y^{-1} each, represent a two-fold increase from pre-industrial fluxes. The most notable change was increased Hg burial in recent sediments (4.5 t y^{-1}), implying that much of the modern Hg load entering this system

is buried in the sediments (Hare et al., 2008). Higher river inputs (1.9 t y^{-1}) and a larger net gain from the atmosphere (1.5 t y^{-1}) may reflect increased contemporary atmospheric deposition to Hudson Bay and its watershed. The contemporary THg inventory in the Hudson Bay water column was estimated at 98 t, about 1% of which is present in marine organisms and the remainder in abiotic forms (Hare et al., 2008).

While the THg mass balances for Hudson Bay indicate recent human impact, information on MeHg fluxes may be more relevant to concerns of bioaccumulation in food webs and would prove useful in determining the relative contribution of potential sources including coastal shelf sediments, river watersheds, and the Hudson Bay water column. Kirk and St. Louis (2009) examined the importance of MeHg fluxes from two large rivers as sources to Hudson Bay and suggested that internal MeHg production in the bay may be significant. These measurements are also particularly relevant given the potential for increased MeHg loadings from the vast wetlands of the southern Hudson Bay watershed under warming climate conditions (Macdonald et al., 2005).

7. Biogeochemical cycling of mercury

7.1. Methylation and demethylation

Until recently, the main sites of MeHg production in the Canadian Arctic had not yet been identified, although it was known that inorganic Hg(II) is methylated in marine environments (Fitzgerald et al., 2007). Based on studies from other regions, methylation of Hg(II) may potentially occur in sediments (particularly in shallow coastal shelves), in the water column, or on snow and sea ice (Macdonald and Loseto, 2010). The breakdown of Me₂Hg in the water column or in the air after its evasion may also be a source of MeHg for biological uptake (Kirk et al., 2008; St. Louis et al., 2005, 2007). It has been suggested that open polynyas are important sites for Me₂Hg evasion (St. Louis et al., 2005, 2007), bringing up the possibility of biotic Hg(II) methylation in surface waters with elevated phytoplankton biomass (Pongratz and Heumann, 1998a). Production of Me₂Hg has been determined for pure cultures of marine bacteria collected from Antarctic surface waters and in macroalgae isolated from an Arctic fjord (Pongratz and Heumann, 1998b, 1999). However, recent work in the Arctic Ocean suggests that Me₂Hg can also be produced in deep waters (Section 3; Kirk et al., 2008). A possible mechanism for phytoplanktonassociated methylation was proposed by Larose et al. (2010) implicating transmethylation reactions (Bentley and Chasteen, 2002) that are involved in the degradation of the phytoplankton osmolyte dimethylsulfoniopropionate (DMSP). Other studies in lower-latitude oceans have also challenged the current paradigm that only anaerobic conditions support significant MeHg production or net rates of methylation (Cossa et al., 2011; Heimbürger et al., 2010; Mason and Fitzgerald, 1990; Sunderland et al., 2009) and underscore the need for more fundamental research examining mechanistic aspects of Hg methylation in polar regions.

The first estimates of Hg methylation rates in coastal sediments of the Arctic Archipelago were determined by laboratory incubations of Hg isotopes in sediment slurries from Allen Bay, Cornwallis Island (St. Pierre et al., 2014). The methylation and demethylation potentials were low, suggesting that those organic-poor coastal sediments are likely not an important source of MeHg to the water column. However, the results may not be representative of organic-rich sediment in more productive Arctic coastal areas, and additional research is needed to examine the influence of spatial heterogeneity in sediment characteristics on Hg methylation in the Arctic. In the incubation experiments, the rate of Hg methylation was stimulated by a temperature increase from 4 to 12 °C, without a compensatory increase in demethylation. Climate warming may, therefore, increase the potential for MeHg production in coastal sediments.

The first measurements of methylation rates in marine waters of the Canadian Arctic are consistent with the notion that the water column is an important site for MeHg production (Lehnherr et al., 2011). Seawater samples were amended with isotopically labeled Hg(II) and MeHg, and incubated to quantify rates of methylation and demethylation. The results of these experiments demonstrated that both MeHg and Me₂Hg are produced in polar marine waters by methylation of Hg(II). Additionally, Me₂Hg can also be formed from methylation of MeHg, but in general, Me₂Hg production was slower than MeHg production. Methylmercury can be demethylated under both light and dark conditions as a result of photodemethylation and microbial demethylation, respectively.

A numerical model using the rate constants of MeHg production and degradation measured during these incubations estimated that, on average, Hg(II) methylation in the water column accounted for about half (47 \pm 62%) of the MeHg present in marine waters of the Canadian Arctic Archipelago and is therefore the single largest source of MeHg to Arctic marine waters and food webs (Lehnherr et al., 2011). Furthermore, the model estimates indicated that MeHg demethylation in the water column limits how far MeHg can be transported by ocean currents. For example, 90% of the MeHg in a particular water mass is likely demethylated in the time it takes for that water to travel 20-200 km. Therefore, the majority of MeHg occurring in Arctic marine waters probably does not originate from distant sources, highlighting the importance of Hg(II) methylation in the water column. The model results also indicated that some sites appear to be net sources of MeHg (methylation hotspots) while others can be net sinks for MeHg, depending on the availability of Hg(II), which limits MeHg production. The implication of this finding is that if concentrations of Hg(II) in Arctic marine waters were to increase as a result of either increased anthropogenic inputs or environmental change, the production of MeHg in the water column from Hg(II) methylation is also likely to increase.

Recent work in the Bathurst Polynya (Beaufort Sea) has shown a MeHg maximum associated with the widespread nutrient maximum in the Western Arctic Ocean (Wang et al., 2012). Based on kinetic rate constants reported by Lehnherr et al. (2011), Wang et al. (2012) dismissed transport from the Chukchi Sea, where the nutrient maximum is formed, as a plausible source of the MeHg. Other potential sources of MeHg to the study site, including the Mackenzie River (Leitch et al., 2007) or diffusion out of shelf bottom sediments, were also found to be unlikely. Estimates of primary production for the polynya and the resultant rate of organic matter remineralization occurring locally in the nutrient maximum, however, were shown to provide the only plausible mechanism to produce MeHg at the observed concentrations. This result may provide, at least partially, an answer as to why there is such wide regional variation in Hg uptake by apex marine predators in the Arctic marine environment. However, the rapid dynamics of MeHg production and destruction make it difficult to link the Hg cycle within the ocean to the MeHg accumulation in the food web.

While limited information currently exists on photodemethylation in polar seawater, this loss process likely occurs near the watercolumn surface where UV light can penetrate (e.g., Lehnherr et al., 2011; Monperrus et al., 2007). Experimental work suggests that MeHg-chloride complexes, which are the dominant form in seawater, are more resistant to photodemethylation, particularly in comparison to aqueous MeHg complexes in fresh water (Zhang and Hsu-Kim, 2010). Sea ice and snow cover strongly reduce light penetration and, hence, photodemethylation in the Arctic Ocean for much of the year. Reductions in summer sea-ice extent associated with climate change will most probably increase photodemethylation in the marine Hg cycle and possibly decrease MeHg concentrations. Using new techniques, Point et al. (2011) measured the stable isotope composition of Hg in seabird eggs along a latitudinal gradient extending across the Bering and Chukchi Seas and found evidence that less photodemethylation occurs at the northern, more ice-covered sites. Photodemethylation of aqueous MeHg produces distinct Hg isotope fractionation patterns (Bergquist and Blum, 2007, 2009), and the extent of this fractionation in Hg bioaccumulated by seabirds was significantly correlated to the percent of sea-ice cover. Accordingly, the authors proposed that the loss of seasonal ice in the Arctic as a consequence of climate change might actually enhance the breakdown of MeHg and lead to a decline in Hg uptake at the top of marine food webs (Point et al., 2011). Clearly, we do not yet know how widely the findings from the Bering and Chukchi Seas can be extended, but it seems likely that for any given region, climate change will alter the dynamic balance between processes destroying MeHg (e.g., photodemethylation) and processes producing it (organic matter remineralization) leading to opposing trends depending on the setting.

7.2. Reduction and oxidation

Reduction–oxidation (redox) reactions of Hg can be driven by photochemical or microbial processes. While photochemical reactions appear to dominate the redox cycle in fresh waters, recent evidence from the Arctic suggests that microbes may be key players in altering Hg redox chemistry in salt water.

7.2.1. Microbial redox processes

Microbes are well known for their capacity to form the neurotoxin MeHg, but they also have the capacity to detoxify this metal via Hg resistance enzymes (Barkay et al., 2003). Some types of bacteria have a mercuric reductase enzyme (called merA) that reduces Hg(II) to volatile Hg(0), and some also have an enzyme (merB) that decomposes organomercurial species (Barkay et al., 2003). In a study of Arctic microbial communities associated with seawater, microbial mats and macroalgae, Poulain et al. (2007a) found evidence from messenger RNA detection that marine, cold-adapted microbes expressed diverse forms of the merA gene coding for the mercuric reductase enzyme. This discovery of expressed Hg resistance genes suggests that microbial populations in the Arctic marine environment are sensitive to Hg contamination. However, THg concentrations were low in water and sediments from which these microbial populations were sampled. Therefore, the induction of Hg resistance may reflect: 1) the existence of environmental conditions that enhance Hg bioavailability due to microbe physiology or to the physical and chemical properties of the Arctic environment, and/or 2) the presence of micro-niches with high Hg concentrations, such as those encountered in snow and frost flowers (Douglas et al., 2008). Investigations in northeastern Greenland have recently found that mercury-resistant bacteria occur in snow and to a lesser extent in brine associated with Arctic sea ice (Møller et al., 2011).

Poulain et al. (2007a) modeled the potential for microbes to reduce Hg in the High Arctic. Results of their kinetic redox model suggest that microbially mediated reduction of Hg(II) could account for most of the Hg(0) present in the surface waters of the Arctic Ocean. Studies conducted in the circumpolar Arctic show ranges of dissolved gaseous Hg (DGM) concentrations in seawater that broadly overlap with those of freshwater systems (60-643 fM; Table 2). Virtually nothing is known about Hg redox chemistry deeper in the ocean water column or in sediments. Elevated GEM concentrations were measured in deep ocean water beyond light penetration (see Section 3), suggesting that microbes may be important mediators of Hg redox transformations in that environment. The production of GEM in seawater collected from the aphotic zone and incubated in the absence of light supports this notion (Lehnherr et al., 2011). In addition, elevated concentrations of DGM were recorded under sea ice in the Canadian Arctic Ocean (Andersson et al., 2008; St. Louis et al., 2007), suggesting that DGM builds up under sea ice. This DGM is likely composed of a mixture of Me_2Hg and Hg(0), both of which are volatile and may be of microbial origin. The rate of microbial metabolism is dictated by temperature, and the Arctic is undergoing climate warming. Therefore, it is critical that further research be conducted at the cellular level on microbial contributions to Hg transformations in the polar marine environment. Investigations should focus on microbial species currently adapted to

Table 2

Water concentrations of DGM in surface waters of Arctic marine ecosystems.

Location	Sampling date	n	DGM concentration (fM)	Reference
North Atlantic and Arctic oceans (near the Fram Strait) Arctic Ocean (Griffith Island and Resolute Passage, NU) Canadian Arctic Archipelago ^b Hudson Bay region ^b Arctic Ocean (including the Canadian Archipelago, Beaufort Sea, Chukchi Sea, and Central Basin)	2004 2004–2005 2005 2005 2005	>400 8 11 13 Continuous	$\begin{array}{c} 54{-}174\\ 643\pm179^{a}\\ 127\pm51^{a}\\ 148\pm25^{a}\\ 220\pm110 \end{array}$	Temme et al. (2005) St. Louis et al. (2007) Kirk et al. (2008) Kirk et al. (2008) Andersson et al. (2008)
Arctic Ocean (near Kongsfjorden, Norway)	2002	5	60–349	Sommar et al. (2007)

n = number of sites sampled, fM = femtomoles L⁻¹ (i.e. 10⁻¹⁵ M).

^a GEM measurements.

^b Only surface water data are presented here.

^c I.e. every 10 min over a 3-month period.

the Arctic and species likely to arise and become dominant with climate change.

7.2.2. Photochemical redox processes

Halogens such as chlorine and bromine and their reactive derivatives are involved in photooxidation of Hg(0) to Hg(II). This process has been documented in the atmosphere (Ariya et al., 2008), in snow (Dommergue et al., 2003; Lalonde et al., 2003; Mann et al., 2014, in this issue; Poulain et al., 2004; Steffen et al., 2008) as well as in surface waters of the St. Lawrence River (Lalonde et al., 2001) and the coastal Atlantic Ocean (Whalin and Mason, 2006). In the presence of solar radiation, elemental Hg is more likely to be oxidized back to divalent Hg in marine systems than in fresh waters. During bottle incubation experiments conducted with coastal waters near Cornwallis Island, Poulain et al. (2007c) showed that the light-induced production of elemental Hg greatly decreased with increasing salinity, reaching virtually no net production in natural coastal seawater. Using controlled experiments and kinetic modeling, Qureshi et al. (2010) determined that photooxidized Hg forms a stable complex with chloride in North Atlantic Ocean water that is less available for photoreduction reactions. These results predict a decrease in the photoreduction of Hg in marine waters and, therefore, more retention of Hg(II) as compared to fresh waters. Altogether these data suggest that conditions encountered in coastal and marine systems tend to increase the retention of inorganic Hg(II) by favoring oxidation reactions.

8. Bioaccumulation and biomagnification of mercury

The exact mechanisms by which Hg enters the food chain are not fully understood. Fish and wildlife are exposed to Hg mainly through their diet because typically low concentrations in air and water result in minimal transfer through inhalation, gill or dermal exposure (Duffy et al., 2001; Hall et al., 1997; Rodgers, 1994). Methylmercury is the main species of Hg absorbed by fish and wildlife. Bioaccumulation occurs because MeHg is efficiently assimilated into tissues following absorption in the gut but is slowly eliminated from the body. Once MeHg is absorbed in the gut, it enters the blood stream and is distributed to tissues and organs in the body. In fish, MeHg first accumulates in the viscera (kidney, spleen, liver) and is only later redistributed to the muscle and brain tissue (Oliveira et al., 1999). Mammals and birds are capable of detoxifying their MeHg burden through demethylation (Wagemann et al., 1998; Wiener et al., 2003). As a result, a large and variable portion of the Hg in liver and kidney is inorganic (Wagemann et al., 1998; Wiener et al., 2003). Mercury in the skeletal muscle and brain is predominately in the form of MeHg (Basu et al., 2009; Scheuhammer et al., 1998; Wagemann et al., 1998). Mercury concentrations are often higher in older and larger individuals of an animal population because those individuals tend to eat larger types of prey that are at a higher trophic position and are more contaminated.

Mercury is one of the few metals that is known to accumulate through food webs to concentrations that are much higher in upper trophic level organisms than those in primary producers or consumers (Kidd et al., 2012). In the Canadian Arctic, MeHg is found in marine waters at ultra-low levels, yet concentrations are orders of magnitude higher in predatory animals such as beluga and polar bears. This phenomenon occurs because MeHg is biomagnified through a food web; that is, it first concentrates in microbes (algae and bacteria) and then is further amplified in dietary transfers between consumers. The greatest biomagnification occurs at the base of food webs where MeHg is approximately 105 times more concentrated in microbes than in water (Watras et al., 1998). Biomagnification then occurs at each additional trophic level, by a factor calculated to be about 6.0 \pm 3.7 times in polar marine food webs (Lavoie et al., 2013).

9. Food webs

9.1. Trophic transfer of mercury through marine food webs in the Canadian Arctic

The first investigations of Hg biomagnification in marine food webs focused on Lancaster Sound (Atwell et al., 1998) and the North Water Polynya (Campbell et al., 2005). Those studies indicated that Hg concentrations increase several-fold from ice algae (North Water Polynya) and particulate organic matter (Lancaster Sound) up through invertebrates and fish to seabirds and marine mammals. Since then, Hg biomagnification in marine food webs has been investigated in Cumberland Sound, in Hudson Bay, in Queens Channel, and in the eastern Beaufort Sea and Amundsen Gulf.

9.1.1. Cumberland Sound

In Cumberland Sound, located on the east coast of Baffin Island, THg concentrations in biota (log-transformed, $\mu g g^{-1} dw$) sampled from 2007 to 2009 increased significantly with trophic position, estimated by their δ^{15} N ratios (McMeans et al., 2015-in this issue). Concentrations increased from invertebrates (clams (*Hiatella arctica*) and zooplankton) to mid-trophic position fishes (e.g. Salvelinus alpinus) and seals (Phoca hispida, Phoca groenlandica) to the top predator, Greenland shark (Somniosus microcephalus). Of the known benthic and pelagic Greenland shark prey sampled, those with the highest THg concentrations were Arctic skate (Amblyraja hyperborea) and harp seal (P. groenlandica). However, neither total body length, sex, nor trophic position or diet (as inferred from δ^{15} N, δ^{13} C and fatty acids), except for a weak, positive relationship between THg and the fatty acid 18:1n - 9, were able to significantly explain THg variability among individual Greenland sharks. The high THg concentration in Greenland sharks, however, was consistent with their high trophic position and with significant biomagnification of THg through this seasonally ice-covered ecosystem.

9.1.2. Hudson Bay

Mercury biomagnification was investigated in a marine food web of Hudson Bay using THg concentrations in the muscle of three species of seals sampled from western Hudson Bay (Young et al., 2010) and one



Fig. 4. Relationship between δ^{15} N ratios (‰) and log-transformed THg concentrations (µg g⁻¹ ww) in a marine food web of Hudson Bay (linear regression model: log THg = 4.84 + 0.240 * δ^{15} N, $r^2 = 0.49$, p < 0.001, n = 21). Invertebrates (sea angel (*Clione limacina*), jellyfish (mixed species), squid (*Gonatus* sp.), amphipods (gammarid and hyperiid), euphausiids (Euphausiacea), pelagic fish (Arctic cod (*Boreogadus saida*)), capelin (*Mallotus villosus*), sandlance (*Ammodytes* spp.), and benthic fish (sculpins (*Gymnocanthus tricuspis*, *Triglops* spp.), banded gunnels (*Pholis fasciata*), Arctic and daubed shannies (*Stichaeus punctatus* and *Leptoclinus maculatus*, respectively), eelpout (*Gymnelis viridis*), Atlantic poacher (*Leptagonus decagonus*), fourline snake blennies (*Eumesogrammus praecisus*), snailfsh (*Liparis* sp.)) were sampled from 2007 to 2009. Seabids (thick-billed murre) were sampled in 2007, Ringed seals (*Phoca vitulina*) from 1999 to 2006.

Fish data are from Braune et al. (2014a). Invertebrate and seabird data are from Braune (Environment Canada, unpublished data). Seal data are from Young et al. (2010).

seabird species-the thick-billed murre (Uria lomvia)-sampled from Coats Island in northern Hudson Bay. Whole fish and invertebrates delivered by thick-billed murres to nestlings on the ledges of cliffs on Coats Island were collected and supplemented by invertebrates sampled from plankton tows near the Nuvuk Islands for THg analysis. A significant positive relationship was found between log THg concentrations and δ^{15} N ratios in the biota sampled from Hudson Bay (Fig. 4). Concentrations of THg increased from invertebrates through fish to the top trophic consumers, seabirds and seals. The mean muscle δ^{15} N ratio and THg concentration for thick-billed murres were very similar to that found in the muscle of adult ringed seals. In a recent paper, Foster et al. (2012) analyzed a large Hg database focusing exclusively on zooplankton in Hudson Bay, including THg and MeHg determinations at the species level. They found that even at the lower trophic levels of the food web, MeHg uptake and transfer varied significantly, thus providing an important source of variance in the exposure of higher trophic level feeders.

9.1.3. Queens Channel

Mercury biomagnification was studied in invertebrates, fish and seabird chicks sampled opportunistically in the summer of 2011 from a small, tidally-driven polynya near Nasaruvaalik Island in Queens Channel (Clayden et al., 2015-in this issue). The biomagnification rate of MeHg (based on δ^{15} N) was slightly higher (0.256) than in the much larger North Water Polynya (0.223, in Campbell et al., 2005). The trophic magnification factor of MeHg from invertebrates through fish (3.4) was comparable to estimates from eastern Canadian Arctic and sub-Arctic food webs (van der Velden et al., 2013a). Concentrations of MeHg from the Queens Channel polynya were measured in two previously uncharacterized taxa, jellyfish (Medusozoa) and Arctic alligatorfish (Ulcina olrikii). Jellyfish had lower MeHg concentrations than expected given their trophic position, possibly because they differ markedly in their biochemistry from other organisms in this study. Since this is one of the few studies on Hg biomagnification in polynyas, further research might help to identify whether the physical, chemical or biological characteristics of these ecosystems influence Hg bioaccumulation or biomagnification, as shown for other systems (Lavoie et al., 2013). Small polynyas are broadly distributed and are key habitats for marine wildlife in the Arctic (Stirling, 1997), so it is important to understand what roles they play in the broader dynamics of Hg in Arctic environments.

9.1.4. Eastern Beaufort Sea and Amundsen Gulf

The Beaufort Sea beluga whale population is one of Canada's largest, estimated at a minimum of 40,000 individuals (COSEWIC, 2004). Concern over high Hg concentrations measured in this population of beluga whales (Lockhart et al., 2005a) led to studies designed to evaluate food web processes driving Hg concentrations in this region. Satellite telemetry data from tagged beluga provided the information to characterize habitat use, while studies on local food webs were used to estimate Hg exposure in beluga whales (Loseto, 2007; Loseto et al., 2006, 2008a, 2008b, 2009). Based on beluga habitat preference, three different sex and size defined habitat use groups were observed (Loseto et al., 2006). It is likely that differential habitat use by different segments of the population influenced their feeding ecology and thus their Hg exposure. Therefore, using the habitat use groups, belugas were hypothesized to feed locally as follows: 1) small males (<3.8 m) and females (with and without calves) using shallow open water near the mainland were hypothesized to feed within the estuarine-shelf food web; 2) medium length males (3.8-4.2 m) and females (>3.7 m)without calves using the sea ice edge were hypothesized to feed on Arctic cod (Boreogadus saida) associated with sea ice (Gradinger and Bluhm, 2004) in the pelagic food web; and, 3) the largest males (\geq 4.2 m) using heavy sea-ice concentrations in deep, offshore waters were hypothesized to feed in the benthic and epibenthic food web (Loseto et al., 2008a) due to their known diving ability; e.g. up to 800 m (Citta et al., 2013; Richard et al., 1997).

Food webs were designed for each ecozone to support the hypothesized feeding preference of beluga in the eastern Beaufort Sea and Amundsen Gulf region (Loseto et al., 2008a). Biomagnification rates were estimated using the slopes of THg concentrations versus trophic position of invertebrates, fish, and beluga sampled from the different food webs (Loseto et al., 2008a). The slopes for THg ranged from 0.23 to 0.26 and did not differ significantly between the estuarine, pelagic, and epibenthic food webs. Biomagnification slopes were similar to those calculated for THg in Hudson Bay (slope of 0.24) and Cumberland Sound (slope of 0.23; McMeans et al., 2015-in this issue), and slightly higher but still comparable to values calculated for the North Water Polynya near Baffin Bay (slope of 0.20; Campbell et al., 2005), and West Greenland waters (slope of 0.18; Rigét et al., 2007b). A recent review reported a mean biomagnification slope of 0.21 \pm 0.07 for THg in polar marine food webs (Lavoie et al., 2013) which supports earlier observations of similar Hg biomagnification slopes among disparate Arctic marine habitats (Rigét et al., 2007b).

Although biomagnification slopes were similar among beluga feeding habitats, the Hg concentrations observed among the beluga feeding groups differed, suggesting that biomagnification rates remained constant and were not driving differences among groups. Despite the high influx of inorganic Hg and MeHg to the Mackenzie River Delta (Leitch et al., 2007), Hg concentrations in prey associated with the shallow estuarine food web were among the lowest (Fig. 5) and the beluga whale habitat group thought to feed there also had the lowest THg concentrations (muscle: 2.6 μ g g⁻¹ dw) (Loseto et al., 2008a). Potential prey from the offshore and benthic habitats had THg concentrations that were generally higher than prey from Amundsen Gulf and the estuarine shelf, including Arctic cod found in both areas (Fig. 5). Among the benthic fish species, THg concentrations in fourhorn sculpin (Myoxocephalus quadricornis) were the highest (Fig. 5). These differences in THg concentrations in prey were consistent with the differences in THg concentrations between beluga using nearshore and offshore habitats. Beluga using the nearshore/shelf habitat had lower THg concentrations than those hypothesized to be feeding at the ice



Fig. 5. Concentrations of THg and MeHg (μ g g⁻¹ dw) (white and shaded/patterned bars, respectively) in potential prey species collected from different habitats of the Beaufort Sea and Amundsen Gulf. Pelagic and benthic prey species were collected from the shallow estuarine shelf of the Beaufort Sea and offshore waters in the Amundsen Gulf. Muscle was analyzed for fish while invertebrates were analyzed whole. Data are from Loseto et al. (2008a).

edge and deeper offshore habitats whose THg concentrations did not significantly differ from one another (muscle: 6.0 and 4.4 μ g g⁻¹ dw, respectively). While the assigned beluga feeding groups were an oversimplification of temporal and spatial complexities of beluga movement and seasonal feeding, the exercise was valuable for a general understanding trophic transfer of Hg in the different food webs.

10. Marine fish

10.1. Sea-run Arctic char

Arctic char (Salvelinus *alpinus*) is a member of the salmonid family, which also includes lake trout (*Salvelinus namayush*) and Dolly Varden (*Salvelinus malma malma*), and has the most northern distribution of the three species. Dolly Varden is considered to have a limited distribution within the Canadian Arctic and occurs primarily west of the Mackenzie River Delta while Arctic char extend to the east (Reist and Sawatzky, 2010). Arctic char and Dolly Varden are freshwater species that either reside entirely in lakes and rivers or are anadromous and migrate to the ocean for several weeks during the Arctic summer to feed on marine invertebrates and small fish.

10.1.1. Spatial patterns

Mercury concentrations in sea-run char were measured periodically in small samples (generally five fish per sample) during the 1970s-1990s and those results were summarized in Lockhart et al. (2005b). More recently, 2004–2012, a systematic survey of THg concentrations in sea-run char was made at 20 locations across northern Canada including the western Arctic, central Arctic, northern Baffin Island area, and Labrador (Evans et al., in this issue). Char muscle had extremely low concentrations of THg with site averages ranging from 0.014 \pm 0.002 μ g g⁻¹ wet weight (ww) at Cape Dorset (n = 10) to 0.097 \pm 0.015 µg g⁻¹ ww for Vittrekwa River char (n = 7). In general, THg concentrations increased with fish length and weight at individual sites. Concentrations of THg were also often negatively correlated with condition factor; i.e. fish with low condition factors had higher THg concentrations. Evans et al. (in this issue) hypothesized that lower Hg concentrations in fish with high condition factors were associated with greater growth dilution, and since condition factor was not related to δ^{15} N ratios, trophic feeding level was not a factor. Mercury concentrations were substantially lower in sea-run char than in resident and land-locked char possibly due to lower Hg concentrations in the marine diet of the sea-run char (van der Velden et al., 2013a, 2013b). Sea-run Dolly Varden in the western Canadian Arctic also had relatively low THg concentrations with means from 10 sites ranging from 0.029 \pm 0.007 µg g⁻¹ ww to 0.161 \pm 0.037 µg g⁻¹ ww (Tran et al., 2015-in this issue). Site-specific differences in Hg in sea-run char likely reflect variation in the Hg content of their prey, which may be related to localized inputs of Hg from large watersheds (e.g., the Mackenzie River), Hg methylation rates in the marine environment, and the types of prey available, in addition to char growth rates.

10.1.2. Temporal trends

Fourteen of the 20 sites investigated by Evans et al. (in this issue) were sampled more than once although various factors limited the power of the statistical analyses including small sample sizes prior to 2002, substantial differences in the sizes of fish caught in successive years from some locations, and a low number of sampling years. The best records were for sea-run char at Cambridge Bay (central Arctic), Pangnirtung (eastern Baffin Island), Pond Inlet (northern Baffin Island), and Nain Labrador (Nunatsiavut) where trend analyses were based on earlier collections (Lockhart et al., 2005b) combined with sampling conducted from 2004 to 2012 (Evans et al., in this issue). The factors affecting log-transformed THg concentrations were explored using a general linear model with length, year, and a length-by-year interaction as independent variables. Cambridge Bay char showed a significant increase (p < 0.02) in THg concentrations from 1977 to 2012 as did Pangnirtung char from 1990 to 2009 (*p* < 0.001) (Fig. 6). Pond Inlet char (2005 to 2012) showed no trend in THg concentrations (Fig. 6) with variations related only to fish length. The inability to detect a trend in these fish may have been limited to the shorter time record. Total Hg was measured in char from Nain in 1998 and 1999 and again from 2007 to 2010; these records were extended by including char caught from Voisey Bay in 1978 (Bruce et al., 1979). Log THg concentrations showed a significant decrease (p = 0.003) over 1978–2010 and 1999–2010 but no trend was detected over 2007 to 2010 (Fig. 6). Trends of increasing THg were also detected at Paulatuk in the western Arctic (1984-2007), Hall Beach west of Fox Basin (1978-2007), Arviat in western Hudson Bay (2005-2008) and Hopedale off the Labrador coast (1999-2007). The only decreasing trend, in addition to Nain, was noted at Igaluit on southern Baffin Island (1992-2009). A study including sea-run char sampled from four locations along the Labrador



Fig. 6. Temporal variation in mean (±standard deviation) THg concentrations in sea-run char from Cambridge Bay (1977–2012), Pangnirtung (1990–2009), Pond Inlet (2005–2012), and Nain (1978–2010). Statistical results are described in the text.

Based on data from Bruce et al. (1979), Evans et al. (in this issue) and Lockhart et al. (2005b).

coast in 1977/1978 and again in 2007/2008 showed a significant increase in THg concentrations at one site (Hebron Fiord) and no significant changes at the other three sites (Okak Bay, Tikkoatokay Bay, Voisey Bay) between the two time periods (van der Velden et al., 2015–in this issue); with only two years of study for each site, the ability to detect trends was limited. However, a more comprehensive study of sea-run char by Evans et al. (in this issue) suggests a recent trend of increasing Hg across the Arctic when compared with concentrations observed in previous decades. These results should, however, be interpreted with some caution given the limited number of years sampled for most sites.

10.2. Other marine fish

There is limited information on Hg concentrations in other species of marine fish in the Canadian Arctic including those that may be important sources of dietary Hg for seabirds and marine mammals. Arctic cod is a keystone species which has been sampled in several food web studies; e.g. the Beaufort Sea and Amundsen Gulf (Loseto et al., 2008a), the central basin of the Arctic Ocean (Stern and Macdonald, 2005), Lancaster Sound (Atwell et al., 1998), and the North Water Polynya (Campbell et al., 2005). Arctic cod captured in offshore waters had higher THg concentrations than those from an estuarine shelf (Loseto et al., 2008a) (Fig. 5), and spatial variation in cod THg was also observed between deep basins in the Arctic Ocean (Stern and Macdonald, 2005). In addition, several species of deep-water demersal fish were found to have higher THg concentrations relative to fish from an estuarine shelf (Loseto et al., 2008a). Notably high THg concentrations were also observed in Cumberland Sound Arctic skate muscle (0.42 \pm 0.18 µg g⁻¹ ww) compared to Arctic char, Greenland halibut (Reinhardtius hippoglossoides) and shorthorn sculpin (Myoxocephalus scorpius) (McMeans et al., -2015-in this issue). The factors that determine geographic and habitat variation of Hg bioaccumulation in marine fish remain unresolved and warrant future investigation to better understand Hg transfer to top predator animals in the marine environment.

Greenland sharks are the largest predatory fish found in Arctic waters. In Cumberland Sound, Greenland sharks had high THg concentrations in muscle ($1.62 \pm 0.52 \ \mu g \ g^{-1} \ ww$), consistent with their top trophic position (McMeans et al., 2015-in this issue) and within the range reported for beluga whales (see Section 12.3). As large, long-lived, and abundant consumers of fishes and marine mammals, Greenland sharks are likely a significant reservoir for THg which has been transferred through a variety of trophic pathways in Arctic waters. Therefore, including Greenland sharks in future THg mass balance and trophic transfer models is warranted.

11. Marine birds

Seabirds feed at relatively high trophic positions in Arctic marine food webs (Hobson et al., 2002) and dietary Hg is efficiently transferred to avian eggs in a dose-dependent manner (Wolfe et al., 1998). Nearly 100% of the THg transferred to eggs is in the form of MeHg (Wiener et al., 2003). Therefore, although liver and kidney are the most common tissues monitored for Hg exposure in wildlife (Shore et al., 2011), eggs of seabirds are often used to monitor environmental contaminants, including Hg, due to ease of sampling.

11.1. Interspecies comparisons

Eggs of thick-billed murres, northern fulmars (*Fulmarus glacialis*), black-legged kittiwakes (*Rissa tridactyla*), black guillemots (*Cepphus grylle*), and glaucous gulls (*Larus hyperboreus*) were sampled from Prince Leopold Island in Lancaster Sound from 2003 to 2004 and again in 2008. Concentrations of THg varied significantly among the five seabird species sampled, with glaucous gull eggs having the highest concentrations and those of black-legged kittiwakes, the lowest (Fig. 7). In a study including seabird species sampled from the North



Fig. 7. Mean concentrations (\pm standard error) of THg (μ g g⁻¹ dw) in eggs of five seabird species collected from Prince Leopold Island from 2003 to 2004 and again in 2008 (Braune, 2009).

Water Polynya in 1998, Campbell et al. (2005) attributed differences found among seabird species to trophic position with glaucous gulls feeding almost a full trophic level higher than kittiwakes. Many Arctic seabirds overwinter in areas far from their breeding colonies, thus diet in overwintering areas will also contribute to their exposure to contaminants.

Eggs of Arctic terns (*Sterna paradisaea*) sampled in 2008 from a colony just north of Cornwallis Island in the High Arctic had a mean THg concentration of $2.1 \pm 0.13 \ \mu g \ g^{-1}$ dw (Akearok et al., 2010), very similar to those found in some glaucous gull and black guillemot eggs. However, THg concentrations in eggs of ivory gulls (*Pagophilus eburnea*) from Seymour Island in the Canadian High Arctic in 2004 (mean of $6.4 \pm 5.17 \ \mu g \ g^{-1} \ dw$) were among the highest ever recorded in Arctic seabird eggs (Braune et al., 2006).

11.2. Spatial patterns

In 2007 and 2008, livers of adult thick-billed murres were sampled at five colonies in the eastern Canadian Arctic (Fig. 8). A comparison of hepatic THg concentrations from those five colonies found no significant differences among the three lower latitude colonies—Coats Island, Digges Island, and Akpatok Island—in the northern Hudson Bay and Hudson Strait region, nor were there significant differences between the two higher latitude colonies at Prince Leopold Island and the Minarets (Braune et al., 2014b). However, hepatic THg concentrations in murres from the two higher latitude colonies were significantly higher than from the three lower latitude colonies (Fig. 8) (Braune et al., 2014b). These results were similar to those from a spatial survey of Hg in Canadian Arctic seabird eggs carried out in 1993 which showed that concentrations of THg were significantly higher in murre eggs from



Fig. 8. Mean concentrations (\pm standard error) of THg (μ g g⁻¹ dw) in livers of adult thick-billed murres collected from five colonies in 2007–2008 (n = 10 for each colony except Coats Island where n = 5). Based on data from Braune et al. (2014b).

the High Arctic sites—Prince Leopold Island, Coburg Island—compared with the lower Arctic murre colonies sampled—Coats Island, Digges Island—and there were no significant differences found for THg in eggs between the two Low Arctic colonies (Braune et al., 2002).

These results suggest that there are latitudinal differences in the factors determining Hg exposure, with birds breeding at the higher latitude colonies accumulating more Hg. Similar latitudinal differences have been observed by Dietz et al. (1996) for Greenland species and Braune et al. (2002) in the Canadian Arctic. Akearok et al. (2010) also found that THg concentrations in common eider (Somateria mollissima) eggs were higher from a High Arctic colony just north of Cornwallis Island compared with eider eggs sampled from the sub-Arctic Southampton Island in 2008. However, Mallory et al. (2004) found the opposite pattern for common eiders, with higher hepatic THg concentrations in eiders from Hudson Bay locations relative to birds sampled elsewhere throughout the Canadian Arctic. No spatial pattern was evident for hepatic concentrations of THg in long-tailed ducks (Clangula hyemalis) sampled from nine locations throughout the Canadian Arctic (Braune et al., 2005). Both eiders and long-tailed ducks are benthic feeders, however, and may be exposed to different Hg patterns via their prey than pelagic feeders (Chen et al., 2014) such as murres and other seabirds.

11.3. Temporal trends

Seabird eggs from Prince Leopold Island on Lancaster Sound have been monitored for THg since 1975 (Braune, 2007). Interpretation of temporal trends may be confounded if birds vary their diet among trophic levels through time (Hebert et al., 2000). Therefore, regression analyses used to analyze temporal trends of THg in the seabird eggs included δ^{15} N as a covariate to control for potential inter-year trophic changes in diet. Significant increases in THg concentrations occurred between 1975 and 2012 in eggs of thick-billed murres (n = 70, p < 0.001) and northern fulmars (n = 71, p < 0.001), and between 1975 and 2008 in eggs of black-legged kittiwakes (n = 26, p < 0.03) (Fig. 9). Since 2003, however, THg concentrations in fulmars no longer appear to be increasing (Fig. 9). Concentrations of THg in eggs of ivory gulls collected from Seymour Island also increased between 1976 and 2004, although the increase was not statistically significant (Braune et al., 2006). Recent increases in Hg bioaccumulation in Canadian Arctic seabirds are consistent with a broader geographic analysis of temporal Hg trends in Arctic biota that showed a west-to-east circumpolar gradient in the occurrence of recently increasing Hg trends (Rigét et al., 2011). This gradient was due to a higher proportion of marine time series showing significant Hg increases in the Canadian and Greenland regions of the Arctic compared to the North Atlantic Arctic. The reasons for recent Hg increases in seabirds are unclear but may involve changes in atmospheric



Fig. 9. Mean concentrations (\pm standard error) of THg in eggs of thick-billed murres, northern fulmars and black-legged kittiwakes from Prince Leopold Island, 1975 to 2012 (Braune, Environment Canada, unpublished data).

Hg deposition associated with anthropogenic and natural emissions, coupled with environmental and biological (e.g., food web) processes which may also be affected by climate change.

12. Marine mammals

12.1. Historical trends of mercury in marine mammals

Calcified hard tissues such as teeth can be used to estimate the extent to which global anthropogenic Hg emissions have increased Hg concentrations in Arctic biota since the pre-industrial period. Total Hg concentrations in teeth of Canadian Arctic beluga whales, walruses (Odobenus rosmarus rosmarus), and ringed seals have been examined from pre-industrial, historical (19th and early- to mid-20th Century) and present-day populations by Outridge et al. (2002, 2005, 2009). Teeth from modern ringed seals sampled in Amundsen Gulf, and from beluga sampled in the Beaufort Sea and near Somerset Island, had significantly higher THg concentrations than historical teeth (Outridge et al., 2002, 2005, 2009). In the Beaufort Sea and Amundsen Gulf region, THg concentrations in marine biota increased after the late 19th Century, with the most substantial increases occurring in the mid-20th Century. Beluga teeth collected around Somerset Island from the late 19th Century to 1998 showed THg increases of 1.2- to 5.5-fold, but the change did not begin until the 1920s to 1940s, which indicates that most, or all, of the increase took place after the early 20th Century (Dietz et al., 2009; Outridge et al., 2005). This historical trend in the Canadian Arctic is consistent with observations from Greenland on the Hg content of calcified and keratinaceous hard tissues such as teeth, hair and feathers (Dietz et al., 2009).

12.2. Ringed seal

The ringed seal is the most abundant Arctic pinniped, and its circumpolar distribution, makes it an ideal candidate for examining spatial patterns of contaminants. Because of their high abundance, ubiquitous distribution, and central position in the food web, ringed seals play an important role in the ecology of Arctic marine ecosystems (Smith et al., 1991). The ringed seal diet consists of fish, mainly Arctic cod, polar cod (*Arctogadus glacialis*), and crustaceans such as amphipods, mysids and euphausids (Reeves, 1998).

12.2.1. Tissue selection and data adjustment

Elevated THg concentrations have been observed in ringed seal liver and kidney since the 1970s (Muir et al., 1992; Smith and Armstrong, 1978; Wagemann and Muir, 1984). Early assessments found concentrations that were two- to three-fold higher in ringed seals in the southern Beaufort Sea—Sachs Harbour and Ulukhaktok—than in the eastern Canadian Arctic Archipelago (Muir et al., 1992; Wagemann et al., 1996), and higher in the Hudson Strait/Labrador region than in southern Hudson Bay (Dietz et al., 1998; Muir et al., 1999).

Comparisons of average concentrations in ringed seal liver are challenging because Hg varies with age (Rigét et al., 2012). The relationship of THg in liver and muscle with age was examined for seals collected from Arviat, Resolute, and Sachs Harbour in 2005 to 2007 (Fig. 10). Liver THg concentrations increased exponentially with age for seals less than five years and appeared to be relatively stable beyond that age. Adjusting for age is not always straightforward because the relationship between liver THg and age can also vary among locations. Thus, for this review of spatial patterns, only data for seals aged five years or older were used. Seal muscle concentrations of THg showed no overall trend with age (Fig. 10). Atwell et al. (1998) also found no correlation between muscle THg concentrations and age in ringed seals from Resolute. The lack of a relationship between muscle THg and age for seals and beluga is thought to be related to the more rapid elimination of the predominately MeHg in muscle, while for liver, the increase with age implies longer term storage of inorganic Hg (Dehn



Fig. 10. Influence of age on log-transformed THg concentrations ($\mu g g^{-1}$ ww) in (A) liver and (B) muscle of ringed seals collected from Arviat, Resolute, and Sachs Harbour in 2005 to 2007 (Muir, Environment Canada, unpublished data).

et al., 2005; Loseto et al., 2008b). Measurements of Hg elimination rates in seal muscle and liver would help to evaluate the appropriateness of these tissues for the long-term monitoring of Hg trends.

On average, THg concentrations in seal muscle were 32 times lower than in liver for tissues collected from the same location, and similar ratios have been reported elsewhere (Dehn et al., 2005; Wagemann et al., 1996). Most of the THg in liver is in the form of non-toxic, inorganic Hgselenides (Wagemann et al., 2000). Dehn et al. (2005) showed that the proportion of THg as MeHg in ringed seal liver from Ulukhaktok ranged from 1 to 12% with lower proportions in animals greater than five years old, while Wagemann et al. (2000) reported an average MeHg fraction of 2% for ringed seals from the Canadian Arctic. In contrast, Dehn et al. (2005) showed that 81% of THg in muscle was in the form of MeHg.

12.2.2. Spatial patterns

Spatial patterns of THg in ringed seal liver were examined using geometric means (\pm 95% confidence intervals) for each of 12 communities across the Canadian Arctic for which data were available post 2000 (Fig. 11). Data for males and females were combined because, in general, THg concentrations in ringed seal liver are not influenced by sex (Dehn et al., 2005). No statistical analysis was conducted because different THg–age relationships among populations complicate age-adjustment of liver THg concentrations. However, only individuals aged five years or older were included, as discussed earlier. Unadjusted THg concentrations in seal liver were higher in Sachs Harbour and Ulukhaktok in the western Arctic compared to most sampling locations in the eastern Arctic including Arctic Bay, Arviat, Inukjuaq, Nain, Pangnirtung, Pond Inlet, Qikiqtarjuaq, and Resolute. A similar geographic pattern for THg in seal liver was reported by Wagemann et al. (1996) and Rigét et al. (2005).

In order to remain consistent with the analysis of spatial patterns in liver, spatial patterns of THg in muscle of adult ringed seals \geq 5 years or >100 cm length, if age was not available, were examined using geometric means for each of 12 communities across the Canadian Arctic for which data were available post-1999 (Fig. 12). Muscle THg concentrations varied significantly among locations in the eastern and western Arctic, and were significantly higher in Sachs Harbour, Ulukhaktok (Gaden et al., 2009), Resolute, and Qikiqtarjuaq compared with other communities sampled. Similar to results for liver, higher concentrations in ringed seal muscle were found in the western Arctic–Sachs Harbour,



Fig. 11. Concentrations of THg (geometric means \pm 95% confidence intervals) in ringed seal liver from 12 communities sampled between 2000 and 2008. Only individuals aged five years or older were included (Muir, Environment Canada, unpublished data). Sample sizes ranged from n = 6 (Inukjuaq) to n = 72 (Resolute).



Fig. 12. Concentrations of THg (geometric means ± 95% confidence intervals) in ringed seal muscle from 12 communities sampled between 1999 and 2009. Only individuals ≥5 years or >100 cm length, if age was not available, were included (Muir, Environment Canada, unpublished data).

Ulukhaktok—but in addition, two other High Arctic sites—Resolute, Qikiqtarjuaq—showed elevated THg concentrations. It is unclear what factors are driving these geographic trends.

In a separate investigation in Nunatsiavut (northern Labrador), ringed seals were collected in 2008 and 2009 from the Nachvak, Saglek, Okak, and Anaktalak fjords (Brown, Fisheries and Oceans Canada, and Reimer, Royal Military College of Canada, Unpublished data). Average THg concentrations in ringed seal muscle were low and ranged from 0.128 to 0.230 μ g g⁻¹ ww among the four fjords. Overall, these results show relatively little spatial variation among Labrador fjords and are consistent with low muscle concentrations of THg measured in ringed seals at two other sites in the region (see Fig. 12).

12.2.3. Comparison of mercury concentrations in ringed seal with other seal species

Ringed seals, harbor seals, and bearded seals were sampled near communities in western Hudson Bay to examine differences in diet and THg concentrations among size classes (Young et al., 2010). Agespecific differences in foraging, muscle THg concentrations and δ^{15} N ratios varied among pups, juveniles, and adults of ringed and bearded seals. Ringed and bearded seals had similar THg concentrations in muscle, but harbor seals were an order of magnitude higher. Ringed seals had lower THg concentrations in liver than both bearded and harbor seals. Based on δ^{13} C ratios, bearded seals appeared to feed more in the benthic food web. Elevated liver and muscle THg concentrations in harbor seals compared to the other two species were likely due to harbor seals feeding at a higher trophic level.

12.2.4. Temporal trends

No significant trends in THg concentrations in ringed seal muscle were found in the communities of Arviat, Resolute, Sachs Harbour, or Pangnirtung from 1999 to 2009 (Fig. 13). While declines were observed in seals from Arviat and Resolute, the trends were not statistically significant, perhaps due to low sample sizes and relatively high within-year



Fig. 13. Temporal trends of (A) THg concentrations from 1999 to 2009 and (B) δ^{15} N ratios from 2001 to 2009 in ringed seal muscle from Arviat, Resolute Bay, Sachs Harbour, and Pangnirtung. Values are geometric means \pm 95% confidence limits. δ^{15} N ratios were not available for Pangnirtung (Muir, Environment Canada, unpublished data).

variance. This overall finding is in general agreement with results for THg in ringed seal muscle from Ulukhaktok where no significant trends were observed during 2002 to 2007 (Gaden et al., 2009).

Average δ^{15} N ratios for ringed seal muscle from Arviat, Resolute, and Sachs Harbour changed little ($\pm 1\%$) over the study period (Fig. 13) suggesting that seals continued to feed at the same trophic level. Earlier measurements of δ^{15} N in ringed seal muscle collected in Resolute from 1988 to 1990 averaged 16.4 \pm 0.2‰ (Atwell et al., 1998), which is within the range observed for samples collected between 2004 and 2009. Gaden et al. (2009) also found only minor shifts in average δ^{15} N of <1‰ in seals from Ulukhaktok over a 14-year period.

Gaden et al. (2009) examined the relationship of THg concentrations in ringed seals with the length of the ice-free season in the eastern Amundsen Gulf. Muscle tissue of male and female adult ringed seals (aged \geq 7 years) were sampled at Ulukhaktok (Holman) from 1973 to 2007. Age influenced the THg concentrations but there was no significant difference between concentrations in males and females. Ageadjusted THg concentrations displayed a second-order polynomial relationship with the length of the ice-free season in the year prior to seal collection. Seal THg concentrations were higher for years with short (~60 days) and long (greater than ~140 days) ice-free seasons. Gaden et al. (2009) hypothesized that THg concentrations in ringed seals were influenced by the environmental conditions of the previous year on their prey; i.e. variation in the length of the ice-free season may have affected the population of Arctic cod-the preferred prey of ringed seals in winter (Smith, 1987). Additional field studies are necessary to understand the reasons for this apparent trend.

12.3. Beluga

Mercury in liver is largely inorganic and bound to selenium, rendering it biologically unavailable following demethylation, whereas Hg in muscle is largely in the form of MeHg and better reflects recent diet exposure related to beluga size and habitat use (Loseto et al., 2008b). Therefore, both liver and muscle are often analyzed for THg in beluga.

12.3.1. Beluga in Hudson Bay

Gaden and Stern (2010) examined temporal trends of THg in the liver and muscle of beluga sampled in Hudson Bay from Arviat on the west coast (1984 to 2008) and Sanikiluaq on the east coast (1994 to 2008). Mean annual concentrations of THg were between 5–21 μ g g⁻¹ ww in liver and 0.68–1.3 μ g g⁻¹ ww in muscle at Arviat, and between 5–43 μ g g⁻¹ ww in liver and 0.49–1.8 μ g g⁻¹ ww in muscle at Sanikiluaq. Age was correlated with THg concentrations in both the liver and muscle at both sampling locations. Age-adjusted THg concentrations varied significantly with time only in female beluga from Arviat, increasing in the liver and decreasing in the muscle (Fig. 14). The lack of

a significant temporal trend in males from Arviat suggests differences in habitat and prey selection between sexes as discussed in Section 9.1.4 (Loseto et al., 2006, 2008a). The increase in THg concentrations in beluga liver over the study period may have resulted partly from the accumulation of inorganic Hg which has a slow elimination rate in mammalian livers (Friberg et al., 1979).

Stable isotope indicators of diet (δ^{15} N and δ^{13} C) measured in beluga liver generally did not explain THg trends in the liver or muscle of beluga at Arviat and Sanikiluaq (Gaden and Stern, 2010). Only δ^{13} C ratios in Arviat beluga showed a significant temporal trend, becoming more depleted between 1984 and 2008 (p = 0.02). The observed decrease in muscle THg and depletion in δ^{13} C ratios in beluga from Arviat suggest that these whales may have shifted toward a more pelagic diet containing less THg (Cherel and Hobson, 2007; Ohizumi and Miyazaki, 2010). Interestingly, polar bears in western Hudson Bay have also shown a negative shift in δ^{13} C ratios from 1991 to 2007 (McKinney et al., 2009). The lack of significant trends in δ^{15} N ratios suggests that beluga in Hudson Bay have not changed the trophic level at which they feed over time (Hobson and Welch, 1992). The decrease in dietary exposure to THg in some Hudson Bay beluga may be affected by a longer ice-free season in Hudson Bay (Ford et al., 2009; Gagnon and Gough, 2005; Hochheim et al., 2010; Rodrigues, 2009).

12.3.2. Beluga in the western Arctic

Age-adjusted concentrations of THg in the liver of beluga whales from the western Arctic increased from the 1980s to the 1990s followed by stable, high concentrations in the early 2000s (Lockhart et al., 2005a). A recent analysis of the beluga data used average THg concentrations in the liver and muscle for specific age or size classes, respectively. Two age groups were examined for temporal trends in liver THg concentrations. Age was estimated based on one growth layer group of dentine in longitudinally-sectioned teeth (Stewart et al., 2006). The mean THg concentration in livers of whales from 16 to 35 years of age was 18.84 \pm 1.1 μ g g⁻¹ ww across years (1981–2012), and whales from 36 to 55 years had significantly higher (p < 0.0001) concentrations which averaged 53.38 \pm 3.9 μ g g⁻¹ ww.

Given the physiological differences in how THg accumulates in liver and muscle, temporal trends were also examined in muscle. For this analysis, male beluga were grouped by size, medium-sized males (3.8–4.2 m) and large-sized males (>4.2 m), according to habitat use and relationships found with diet as described in Section 9.1.4 (Loseto et al., 2006, 2008a, 2009). When averaged over all years (1981–2012), THg concentrations were significantly higher in the large males (1.60 \pm 0.06 µg g⁻¹ ww) than in the medium-sized males (1.18 \pm 0.05 µg g⁻¹ ww) (p < 0.0001).

Concentrations of THg increased in liver and muscle of beluga from 1981 to 2002 which was consistent with the findings of Lockhart et al.



Fig. 14. Annual mean THg concentrations (±standard error) in (A) liver and (B) muscle of beluga sampled at Arviat from 1984 to 2008 (Gaden and Stern, 2010). Data have been log-transformed and age-adjusted.



Fig. 15. Temporal variation in concentrations of THg (mean \pm standard error) in liver of walruses ranging in age from 8 to 20 years sampled from 1982 to 2009 near Igloolik (Stern, Fisheries and Oceans Canada, unpublished results).

(2005a). For the data spanning 2002 to 2012, no significant linear decline was observed for liver THg concentrations in younger beluga, however in older beluga, THg decreased significantly (r = -0.33, p = 0.02, n = 48). Muscle THg concentrations showed a significant linear decrease in the large size class (r = -0.22, p = 0.05, n = 85). Further investigation as to what factors may be reducing Hg exposure in western Arctic beluga is described in Loseto et al. (2015-in this issue).

12.4. Walrus

Walruses were sampled occasionally between 1982 and 2009 in the Foxe Basin near Igloolik. Liver THg concentrations were generally <3 µg g⁻¹ ww (Fig. 15) and, for the most part, were considerably lower than in other marine mammals. No temporal trends were observed for walruses between 1982 and 2009, although the number of monitoring years (n = 9) was relatively low during that period. Liver THg concentrations of walruses were not related to age.

12.5. Narwhal

Narwhals (*Monodon monocerus*) were sampled periodically between 1978 and 2004 off Baffin Island near Pond Inlet. Liver THg concentrations ranged from 6.7 to 17 μ g g⁻¹ ww (Fig. 16). No temporal trends were evident for liver THg concentrations of narwhals between

1978 and 2004, although the number of monitoring years (n = 8) was again relatively low (Fig. 16). Liver THg concentrations of narwhals were not related to length for animals of 350 to 485 cm.

12.6. Polar bear

The polar bear is a top predator in the Arctic marine ecosystem and, as such, THg concentrations in the polar bear are among the highest observed in the Arctic (Dietz et al., 2009; Muir et al., 1999). Polar bears are distributed throughout the circumpolar region and, thus, are an ideal species for monitoring contaminants.

12.6.1. Spatial patterns

Spatial patterns of THg in polar bears were investigated during 2005–2008 in Alaska (Chukchi and Bering Seas), Canada, and Greenland (Routti et al., 2011). Liver concentrations of THg in polar bears from the northern and southern Beaufort Sea were higher than in all other areas, except for Lancaster/Jones Sound and Gulf of Boothia (Fig. 17). Previous studies of polar bears from the Canadian Arctic similarly reported Hg concentrations being highest in the Beaufort Sea population and lowest in the Hudson Bay population (Braune et al., 1991; Norstrom et al., 1986; Rush et al., 2008). Bears from the Hudson Bay area had lower concentrations of THg compared to other areas except the adjacent Davis Strait. Concentrations of THg in bears from Alaska (Chukchi and Bering



Fig. 16. Temporal variation in liver concentrations of THg (mean \pm standard error) of narwhals ranging in length from 350 to 485 cm sampled from 1978 to 2004 near Pond Inlet (Stern, Fisheries and Oceans Canada, unpublished results).



Fig. 17. Geometric mean concentrations of THg (μ g g⁻¹ ww; \pm 95% confidence intervals) in polar bear liver from 10 subpopulations in Alaska (Chukchi and Bering Seas), Canada, and Greenland collected from 2005 to 2008. All concentrations were adjusted for sex and age. In addition, THg concentrations were adjusted for trophic position using muscle δ^{15} N and compared to unadjusted concentrations.

Based on data from Routti et al. (2012).

Seas) were as low as those from Hudson Bay, which is consistent with the generally low concentrations of THg found in marine and terrestrial mammals from Alaska compared to other Arctic regions (Dehn et al., 2006).

The observed geographic pattern of Hg concentrations in these polar bear studies may be related to both abiotic and biotic factors. High Hg concentrations in marine mammals from the eastern Beaufort Sea may potentially be a consequence of Hg transported from the Mackenzie River (Leitch et al., 2007). However, geographic patterns in Hg concentrations of beluga, narwhals, and ringed seals have also been related to geological formations (Rigét et al., 2005; Wagemann et al., 1996). In addition, recent studies have pointed to the influence of food web structure and feeding behavior on Hg concentrations in polar bears (Cardona-Marek et al., 2009; Horton et al., 2009) and other marine mammals including beluga whales (Loseto et al., 2008a) and various seal species (Young et al., 2010).

Liver THg concentrations for a subset of the same Alaskan, Canadian, and East Greenland bears collected from 2005 to 2008 were investigated in relation to differences in food web structure among the subpopulations (estimated using $\delta^{15}N$, $\delta^{13}C$ and fatty acid tracers in muscle) (Routti et al., 2012). Regardless of subpopulation, liver THg concentrations were positively related to δ^{15} N ratios indicating that polar bears feeding at a higher trophic level accumulate more THg compared to polar bears feeding at a lower trophic level. This finding is consistent with previous studies that reported trophic biomagnification of Hg for other Arctic fish and wildlife (Gaden et al., 2009; Loseto et al., 2008b; Muir et al., 2005). Adjustment for trophic position reduced the geographic variability of liver THg concentrations among polar bear subpopulations (Fig. 17) (Routti et al., 2012). Liver THg concentrations were negatively correlated with muscle δ^{13} C ratios, which suggest that polar bears that feed in areas with higher river inputs of terrestrial carbon may accumulate more Hg than bears feeding in areas with lower freshwater input. Liver THg concentrations were also positively related to a fatty acid (20:1n-9) which is biosynthesized in large amounts in Calanus copepods. It was hypothesized that Calanus may be an important link in the uptake of Hg in the food web and ultimately in polar bears (Routti et al., 2012). The findings of Routti et al. (2012) indicate that food web structure and dietary exposure have a significant influence on geographic trends of THg in liver of polar bears.

St. Louis et al. (2011) similarly found that food web structure explained, in part, geographic variation in Hg bioaccumulation in polar bears. In that study, THg concentrations and $\delta^{15}N$ isotope ratios in polar bear hair indicated that southern Beaufort Sea bears bioaccumulated more Hg because they fed at a higher trophic position than bears from western Hudson Bay. $\delta^{13}\text{C}$ ratios suggested that Beaufort Sea bears fed more on pelagic than benthic carbon compared to Hudson Bay bears. McKinney et al. (2011) found δ^{13} C evidence which showed that, compared to other polar bear subpopulations, the diet of Hudson Bay polar bears may be more dependent on freshwater associated prey such as seals that inhabit rivers or estuaries. However, regional differences in polar bear Hg concentrations were also likely due to the pool of MeHg available for uptake into the food web because concentrations of methylated Hg mid-depth in the pelagic water column of the Canadian Arctic Archipelago were, on average, twice as high as in Hudson Bay (St. Louis et al., 2011). These findings indicate that food web length and structure combined with MeHg bioavailability are important factors in the interpretation of spatial Hg trends in polar bears, particularly in a changing Arctic.

12.6.2. Temporal trends

Recent temporal trends of THg concentrations in the livers of polar bears differed among populations in the circumpolar Arctic. In polar bears from the Beaufort Sea area, a slight increase in liver THg concentrations was observed between the 1980s and 2002 (Fig. 18) (Rush et al., 2008). However, Routti et al. (2011) reported that no further changes in THg concentrations were observed from 2002 to 2007 and 2008 for polar bears from the same Beaufort Sea subpopulations (Fig. 18). Results reported by Rush et al. (2008) indicated that a slight increase in THg concentrations occurred in bears from other subpopulations and areas of the Canadian Arctic sampled in 2002 relative to the 1980s. Concentrations of THg in polar bears from Alaska (Chukchi Sea) and Canadian Arctic subpopulations (except the Beaufort Sea) were lower in 2007-2008 relative to concentrations in 2002 (Fig. 18). In contrast, concentrations of THg in polar bear liver from East Greenland increased significantly in 2006 relative to measurements from 1999 and 2000 (p < 0.05) (Fig. 18). This finding was in agreement with increasing THg concentrations in polar bear hair from Northwest Greenland between 1992 and 2008 (Dietz et al., 2011), ringed seal



Fig. 18. Concentrations (µg g⁻¹ ww; geometric mean ± standard error) of THg in polar bear liver from Alaska (Chukchi and Bering Seas) in 1994 to 2007, Canada in 1982 to 2008, and East Greenland in 1983 to 2006.

Data from Routti et al. (2011) and the references therein.

teeth from Central, West, and East Greenland between 1994 and 2006 (Aubail et al., 2010), and ringed seal liver from central West Greenland during 1999 to 2004 (Rigét et al., 2007a). In contrast, Dietz et al. (2006) reported a decline in THg in polar bear hair from East Greenland between 1973 and 2001.

Overall, geographic trends of THg in polar bears appear to be related to Hg sources—potentially atmospheric deposition, river inputs, and/or local geology—and to polar bear diet. Temporal trends suggest that Hg concentrations in East and Northwest Greenland polar bears have recently increased. Future studies should focus on the role of changing climate and anthropogenic emissions on geographic and temporal trends of Hg in polar bears.

13. Summary

Some of the most significant advances in Arctic Hg science over the last decade were made in the area of biogeochemical cycling, although the mechanisms linking these processes to MeHg entry into Arctic marine food webs are still poorly understood. Much new information has been collected on Hg concentrations in marine water, snow, and ice. Concentrations of methylated Hg in seawater were shown to increase with depth, suggesting that methylated Hg species are produced in intermediate Arctic marine waters and/or sediments. Ocean-atmosphere fluxes of GEM and Me₂Hg were high, and Arctic marine waters have been shown to be a substantial source of gaseous Hg to the atmosphere during the ice-free season. As a result of AMDEs, inorganic Hg accumulation in marine snow was enhanced relative to the terrestrial environment. However, THg concentrations in surface snow declined rapidly within days of an AMDE as a result of re-emission of Hg to the atmosphere. Estimates of areal loads of THg in snow suggest that snowmelt is likely a small flux of Hg to Arctic marine waters during spring.

The most extensive sampling of marine sediments in the Canadian Arctic has been done in Hudson Bay where sediment THg concentrations were low compared to other marine regions in the circumpolar Arctic. In most sediment cores, vertical profiles of sediment Hg fluxes increased during the early years of the Industrial Era (1870 to 1930), followed by stable or declining Hg inputs toward the end of the 20th Century.

Mass balance models were developed for the Arctic Ocean and Hudson Bay to provide quantitative estimates of THg fluxes into and out of these ecosystems. Depending on the model used for the Arctic Ocean, either net atmospheric deposition or rivers constituted the most important source of Hg to the system. For Hudson Bay, rivers were identified as the largest single source followed in importance by the atmosphere and ocean inflow Hg fluxes. More work using a variety of methodological approaches is essential to resolve the uncertainties in the riverine and atmospheric Hg contributions to Arctic ecosystems, especially since the atmospheric flux would be most immediately affected by emission controls.

Despite recent advances, biogeochemical processing of Hg in the Arctic marine environment still remains poorly characterized. The first measurements of methylation rates in Arctic seawater suggest that the water column is an important site for MeHg formation from inorganic Hg. This observation challenges the paradigm that only anaerobic conditions support significant MeHg production. Production of Me₂Hg may occur in deep waters as suggested by recent water-column profiles in the Arctic Ocean, and its breakdown in the water column may be a source of MeHg for biological uptake. Recent evidence from the Arctic suggests that microbes may be key players in altering Hg redox chemistry in salt water. The discovery of expressed Hg resistance genes suggests that microbial populations in the Arctic marine environment are sensitive to THg contamination and may be actively reducing this

metal to its elemental form. These findings underscore the need for more fundamental research examining mechanistic aspects of Hg methylation and redox reactions in polar regions.

Although the exact mechanisms by which Hg enters the food chain are not fully understood, biomagnification of Hg has been observed in several marine food webs. Concentrations of THg in muscle of sea-run Arctic char were consistently very low at various locations across the Canadian Arctic. However, little information exists for obligate marine fish species that may be important sources of Hg for seabirds and marine mammals. The factors that determine geographic and habitat variation of Hg bioaccumulation in marine fish remain unresolved and more studies are needed to better understand Hg transfer through marine food webs.

Spatial analyses of THg concentrations in marine biota found that ringed seals, beluga, and polar bears had higher Hg concentrations in the eastern Beaufort Sea region than in other parts of the Canadian Arctic, particularly in comparison to Hudson Bay, Nunavik (northern Quebec), and Nunatsiavut. Recent evidence indicates that higher THg in Beaufort Sea polar bears is due to their higher trophic position and higher concentrations of MeHg in water available for entry into the food web. Although the eastern Beaufort Sea was consistently a region of high Hg bioaccumulation, additional geographic variability was observed among species. A latitudinal difference in THg concentrations was found among colonies of thick-billed murres, with birds breeding at the higher latitude colonies having higher THg concentrations than those breeding at sub-Arctic colonies. Further research is needed to link biogeochemical and food web processes with geographic variation in Hg concentrations of Arctic biota.

More frequent monitoring of key Arctic biota over the past decade has resulted in more powerful datasets and a better ability to detect changes in Hg concentrations. Temporal trends of Hg in marine biota differed among species and locations in the Canadian Arctic. Populations of ringed seals near five Arctic communities, narwhals from the Baffin Island region, and walruses from Igloolik showed no temporal change in THg concentration, whereas Hg concentrations in muscle of beluga from the western Canadian Arctic appear to have declined since the 1990s. Increases in THg concentrations were observed in recent years for sea-run char near two Arctic communities, and since 1975, in eggs of three Arctic-breeding seabird species at Prince Leopold Island. Recent temporal trends of THg in polar bears varied among populations in the circumpolar Arctic, and inter-annual variation in ice conditions may be affecting the dietary exposure of seals to Hg. Overall, the different Hg trends reported for Arctic marine biota indicate that the drivers may be regional or habitat-specific. Particularly at sites where increases were observed, further research is required to identify the underlying processes leading to changes over time in marine biota Hg bioaccumulation.

Acknowledgments

The authors wish to thank the Northern Contaminants Program (NCP) of Aboriginal Affairs and Northern Development Canada, as well as ArcticNet and International Polar Year, for their funding support which made possible the generation of much of the data presented in this review. In particular, we thank Russell Shearer for his continued support and enthusiasm for the NCP, Scott Tomlinson and Jason Stow of the NCP for their support in the preparation of the assessment report version of this review as well as the preparation of this document, and Rami Yassine for helping with the graphics. We also extend our appreciation to the Arctic Monitoring and Assessment Programme (AMAP) for allowing us to use text and graphics from their 2011 report on mercury in the circumpolar Arctic. Our gratitude is also extended to two anonymous reviewers whose critical and constructive comments helped to improve this review. Finally, the authors gratefully acknowledge the Aboriginal organizations in the Yukon, Northwest Territories, Nunavut, Nunavik, and Nunatsiavut for their support of the NCP and their active participation in monitoring and research activities.

References

- Akearok JA, Hebert CE, Braune BM, Mallory ML. Inter- and intraclutch variation in egg mercury levels in marine bird species from the Canadian Arctic. Sci Total Environ 2010;408:836–40.
- AMAP. AMAP assessment 2011: mercury in the Arctic. Oslo, Norway: Arctic Monitoring and Assessment Programme (AMAP); 2011 (p. xiv + 193).
- Amyot M, Lalonde JD, Ariya PA, Dastoor A. Behavior of mercury in snow from different latitudes. J Phys IV 2003;107:45–8.
- Andersson ME, Sommar J, Gårdfeldt K, Lindqvist O. Enhanced concentrations of dissolved gaseous mercury in the surface waters of the Arctic Ocean. Mar Chem 2008;110: 190–4.
- Ariya PA, Dastoor A, Amyot M, Schroeder WH, Raofie F, Ryjkhov A, et al. The Arctic: a sink for mercury. Tellus B 2004;56B:397–403.
- Ariya PA, Skov H, Grage MML, Goodsite ME. Chapter 4: gaseous elemental mercury in the ambient atmosphere: review of the application of theoretical calculations and experimental studies for determination of reaction coefficients and mechanisms with halogens and other reactants. In: Goodsite ME, Johnson MS, editors. Advances in quantum chemistry. Applications of Theoretical Methods to Atmospheric Science. San Diego: Elsevier Academic Press Inc.; 2008. p. 43–55.
- Asmund G, Nielsen SP. Mercury in dated Greenland marine sediments. Sci Total Environ 2000;245:61–72.
- Atwell L, Hobson KA, Welch HE. Biomagnification and bioaccumulation of mercury in an arctic marine food web: insights from stable nitrogen isotope analysis. Can J Fish Aquat Sci 1998;55:1114–21.
- Aubail A, Dietz R, Rigét F, Simon-Bouhet B, Caurant F. An evaluation of teeth of ringed seals (*Phoca hispida*) from Greenland as a matrix to monitor spatial and temporal trends of mercury and stable isotopes. Sci Total Environ 2010;408:5137–46.
- Barkay T, Miller SM, Summers AO. Bacterial mercury resistance from atoms to ecosystems. FEMS Microbiol Rev 2003;27:355–84.
- Bartels-Rausch T, Krysztofiak G, Bernhard A, Schläppi M, Schwikowski M, Ammann M. Photoinduced reduction of divalent mercury in ice by organic matter. Chemosphere 2011;82:199–203.
- Basu N, Scheuhammer AM, Sonne C, Letcher RJ, Born EW, Dietz R. Is dietary mercury of neurotoxicological concern to wild polar bears (*Ursus maritimus*)? Environ Toxicol Chem 2009;28:133–40.
- Bentley R, Chasteen TG. Microbial methylation of metalloids: arsenic, antimony, and bismuth. Microbiol Mol Biol Rev 2002;66:250–71.
- Bergquist BA, Blum JD. Mass-dependent and -independent fractionation of Hg isotopes by photoreduction in aquatic systems. Science 2007;318:417–20.
- Bergquist BA, Blum JD. The odds and evens of mercury isotopes: applications of mass-dependent and mass-independent isotope fractionation. Elements 2009; 5:353–7.
- Braune BM. Temporal trends of organochlorines and mercury in seabird eggs from the Canadian Arctic, 1975–2003. Environ Pollut 2007;148:599–613.
- Braune BM. Temporal trends of contaminants in Arctic seabird eggs: inter-year variability. Synopsis of research conducted under the 2008–2009 northern contaminants program. Ottawa: Indian and Northern Affairs Canada; 2009. p. 131–6.
- Braune BM, Norstrom RJ, Wong MP, Collins BT, Lee J. Geographical distribution of metals in livers of polar bears from the Northwest Territories, Canada. Sci Total Environ 1991;100:283–99.
- Braune BM, Donaldson GM, Hobson KA. Contaminant residues in seabird eggs from the Canadian Arctic. II. Spatial trends and evidence from stable isotopes for intercolony differences. Environ Pollut 2002;117:133–45.
- Braune BM, Hobson KA, Malone BJ. Regional differences in collagen stable isotope and tissue trace element profiles in populations of long-tailed duck breeding in the Canadian Arctic. Sci Total Environ 2005;346:156–68.
- Braune BM, Mallory ML, Gilchrist HG. Elevated mercury levels in a declining population of ivory gulls in the Canadian Arctic. Mar Pollut Bull 2006;52:978–82.
- Braune BM, Gaston AJ, Elliot KH, Provencher JF, Woo KJ, Chambellant M, et al. Organohalogen contaminants and total mercury in forage fish preyed upon by thick-billed murres in northern Hudson Bay. Mar Pollut Bull 2014a;78:258–66.
- Braune BM, Gaston AJ, Gilchrist HG, Mallory ML, Provencher JF. A geographical comparison of mercury in seabirds in the eastern Canadian Arctic. Environ Int 2014b;66:92–6.
- Bruce WJ, Spencer KD, Arsenault E. Mercury content data for Labrador fishes, 1977–78. St. John's, NF: Department of Fisheries and the Environment; 1979.
- Campbell L, Norstrom R, Hobson K, Muir D, Backus S, Fisk A. Mercury and other trace elements in a pelagic Arctic marine food web (Northwater Polynya, Baffin Bay). Sci Total Environ 2005;351–2:247–63.
- Cardona-Marek T, Knott KK, Meyer BE, O'Hara TM. Mercury concentrations in southern Beaufort Sea polar bears: variation based on stable isotopes of carbon and nitrogen. Environ Toxicol Chem 2009;28:1416–24.
- Chaulk A, Stern GA, Armstrong B, Barber D, Wang F. Mercury distribution and transport across the ocean-sea-ice-atmosphere interface in the Arctic Ocean. Environ Sci Technol 2011;45:1866–72.
- Chen J, Pehkonen SO, Lin CJ. Degradation of monomethylmercury chloride by hydroxyl radicals in simulated natural waters. Water Res 2003;37:2496–504.
- Chen CY, Borsuk ME, Bugge DM, Hollweg T, Balcom PH, Ward DM, et al. Benthic and pelagic pathways of methylmercury bioaccumulation in estuarine food webs of the Northeast United States. PLoS One 2014;9(2):e89305.
- Cherel Y, Hobson KA. Geographical variation in carbon stable isotope signatures of marine predators: a tool to investigate their foraging areas in the Southern Ocean. Mar Ecol Prog Ser 2007;329:281–7.
- Chételat J, Amyot M, Arp P, Blais JM, Depew D, van der Velden S, et al. Mercury in freshwater ecosystems of the Canadian Arctic: recent advances on its cycling and fate. Sci Total Environ 2015;509–510:41–66. [in this issue].

- Citta JJ, Suydam RS, Quaken bush LT, Frost KJ, O'Corry-Crowe GM. Dive behavior of Eastern Chukchi beluga whales (*Delphinapterus leucas*), 1998–2008. Arctic 2013;66:389–406.
- Clayden MG, Arsenault LM, Kidd KA, O'Driscoll NJ, Mallory ML. Mercury bioaccumulation and biomagnification in the food web of a small Arctic polynya. Sci Total Environ 2015;509–510:206–15. [in this issue].
- COSEWIC. COSEWIC assessment and update status report on the beluga whale *Delphinapterus leucas* in Canada. Ottawa: Committee on the Status of Endangered Wildlife in Canada; 2004. p.ix + 70.
- Cossa D, Martin JM, Takayanagi K, Sanjuan J. The distribution and cycling of mercury species in the western Mediterranean. Deep-Sea Res II 1997;44:721–40.
- Cossa D, Aveerty B, Pirrone N. The origin of methylmercury in open Mediterranean waters. Limnol Oceanogr 2009:54:837–44.
- Cossa D, Heimbürger LE, Lannuzel D, Rintoul SR, Butler ECV, Bowie AR, et al. Mercury in the Southern Ocean. Geochim Cosmochim Acta 2011;75:4037–52.
- Dastoor AP, Larocque Y. Global circulation of atmospheric mercury: a modeling study. Atmos Environ 2004;38:147-61
- Dehn LA, Sheffield GG, Follmann EH, Duffy LK, Thomas DL, Bratton GR, et al. Trace elements in tissues of phocid seals harvested in the Alaskan and Canadian Arctic: influence of age and feeding ecology. Can J Zool 2005;83:726–46.
- Dehn LA, Follmann EH, Rosa C, Duffy LK, Thomas DL, Bratton GR, et al. Stable isotope and trace element status of subsistence-hunted bowhead and beluga whales in Alaska and gray whales in Chukotka. Mar Pollut Bull 2006;52:301–19.
- Dietz R, Riget F, Johansen P. Lead, cadmium, mercury and selenium in Greenland marine animals. Sci Total Environ 1996;186:67–93.
- Dietz R, Pacyna J, Thomas DJ. Heavy metals. Chapter 7. In: AMAP, editor. AMAP assessment report: Arctic pollution issues. Oslo, Norway; 1998. p. 373–524.
- Dietz R, Riget F, Born EW, Sonne C, Grandjean P, Kirkegaard M, et al. Trends in mercury in hair of Greenlandic polar bears (Ursus maritimus) during 1892–2001. Environ Sci Technol 2006:40:1120–5.
- Dietz R, Outridge PM, Hobson KA. Anthropogenic contributions to mercury levels in present-day Arctic animals—a review. Sci Total Environ 2009;407:6120–31.
- Dietz R, Born EW, Rigét F, Aubail A, Sonne C, Drimmie R, et al. Temporal trends and future predictions of mercury concentrations in Northwest Greenland polar bear (Ursus maritimus) hair. Environ Sci Technol 2011;45:1458–65.
- Dommergue Á, Ferrari CP, Poissant L, Gauchard PA, Boutron CF. Diurnal cycles of gaseous mercury within the snowpack at Kuujjuarapik/Whapmagoostui, Quebec, Canada. Environ Sci Technol 2003;37:3289–97.
- Donaldson SG, Van Oostdam J, Tikhonov C, Feeley M, Armstrong B, Ayotte P, et al. Environmental contaminants and human health in the Canadian Arctic. Sci Total Environ 2010;408:5165–234.
- Douglas TA, Sturm M, Simpson WR, Blum JD, Alvarez-Aviles L, Keeler GJ, et al. Influence of snow and ice crystal formation and accumulation on mercury deposition to the Arctic. Environ Sci Technol 2008;42:1542–51.
- Douglas TA, Loseto LL, Macdonald RW, Outridge P, Dommergue A, Poulain F, et al. The fate of mercury in Arctic terrestrial and aquatic ecosystems, a review. Environ Chem 2012;9:321–55.
- Duffy LK, Kaiser C, Ackley C, Richter KS. Mercury in hair of large Alaskan herbivores: routes of exposure. In: Ballard WB, Rogers AR, editors. Alces, 37(2). 2001. p. 293–301. [37].
- Evans MS, Muir DCG, Keating J, Wang X. Sea-run char as an alternate food choice to marine animals: a synthesis of mercury concentrations and population features. Sci Total Environ 2014e. [in this issue].
- Fisher JA, Jacob DJ, Soerensen AL, Amos HM, Steffen A, Sunderland EM. Riverine source of Arctic Ocean mercury inferred from atmospheric observations. Nat Geosci 2012;5: 499–504.
- Fisk A, Hobbs KE, Muir DCG. Contaminant levels and trends in the biological environment. Canadian Arctic Contaminants Assessment Report II. Ottawa: Indian and Northern Affairs Canada; 2003. [p. xix + 175].
- Fitzgerald WF, Lamborg CH, Hammerschmidt CR. Marine biogeochemical cycling of mercury. Chem Rev 2007;107:641–62.
- Ford JD, Gough WA, Laidler GJ, MacDonald J, Irngaut C, Qrunnut K. Sea ice, climate change, and community vulnerability in northern Foxe Basin, Canada. Climate Res 2009;38: 137–54.
- Foster KL, Stern GA, Pazerniuk MA, Hickie B, Walkusz W, Wang F, et al. Mercury biomagnification in marine zooplankton food webs in Hudson Bay. Environ Sci Technol 2012;46:12952–9.
- Friberg L, Nordberg GF, Vouk V. Handbook on the toxicology of metals. Amsterdam: Elsevier/North-Holland Biomedical Press; 1979.
- Gaden A, Stern GA. Temporal trends in beluga, narwhal and walrus mercury levels: links to climate change. In: Ferguson SH, Loseto LL, Mallory ML, editors. A little less Arctic: top predators in the world's largest northern inland sea. Hudson Bay: Springer; 2010. p. 197–216.
- Gaden A, Ferguson SH, Harwood L, Melling H, Stern GA. Mercury trends in ringed seals (*Phoca hispida*) from the Western Canadian Arctic since 1973: associations with length of ice-free season. Environ Sci Technol 2009;43:3646–51.
- Gagnon AS, Gough WA. Trends in the dates of ice freeze-up and breakup over Hudson Bay, Canada. Arctic 2005;58:370–82.
- Gamberg M, Chételat J, Poulain A, Zdanowicz C, Zheng J. A review of mercury in the terrestrial environment of the Canadian Arctic. Sci Total Environ 2014e. [in this issue].
- Gobeil C, Macdonald RW, Smith JN. Mercury profiles in sediments of the Arctic Ocean basins. Environ Sci Technol 1999;33:4194–8.
- Gradinger RR, Bluhm BA. In-situ observations on the distribution and behavior of amphipods and Arctic cod (*Boreogadus saida*) under the sea ice of the High Arctic Canada Basin. Polar Biol 2004;27:595–603.

- Hall BD, Bodaly RA, Fudge RJP, Rudd JWM, Rosenberg DM. Food as the dominant pathway of methylmercury uptake by fish. Water Air Soil Pollut 1997;100:13–24.
- Hare A, Stern GA, Macdonald RW, Kuzyk ZZ, Wang FY. Contemporary and preindustrial mass budgets of mercury in the Hudson Bay Marine System: the role of sediment recycling. Sci Total Environ 2008;406:190–204.
- Hare AA, Stern GA, Kuzyk ZZA, Macdonald RW, Johannessen SC, Wang F. Natural and anthropogenic mercury distribution in marine sediments from Hudson Bay, Canada. Environ Sci Technol 2010;44:5805–11.
- Hebert CE, Hobson KA, Shutt JL. Changes in food web structure affect rate of PCB decline in herring gull (*Larus argentatus*) eggs. Environ Sci Technol 2000;34:1609–14.
- Heimbürger LE, Cossa D, Marty JC, Migon C, Averty B, Dufour A, et al. Methyl mercury distributions in relation to the presence of nano- and picophytoplankton in an oceanic water column (Ligurian Sea, North-western Mediterranean). Geochim Cosmochim Acta 2010;74:5549–59.
- Holson KA, Welch HE. Determination of trophic relationships within a high Arctic marine food web using δ^{13} C and δ^{15} N analysis. Mar Ecol Prog Ser 1992;84:9–18.
- Hobson KA, Fisk A, Karnovsky N, Holst M, Gagnon JM, Fortier M. A stable isotope (δ¹³C, δ¹⁵N) model for the North Water food web: implications for evaluating trophodynamics and the flow of energy and contaminants. Deep-Sea Res II 2002;49:5131–50.
- Hochheim K, Barber DG, Lukovich JV. Changing sea ice conditions in Hudson Bay, 1980–2005. In: Ferguson SH, Loseto LL, Mallory ML, editors. A little less arctic: top predators in the world's largest northern inland sea, Hudson Bay. Springer; 2010. p. 39–52.
- Horton TW, Blum JD, Xie ZQ, Hren M, Chamberlain CP. Stable isotope food-web analysis and mercury biomagnification in polar bears (*Ursus maritimus*). Polar Res 2009;28: 443–54.
- Kidd K, Clayden M, Jardine T. Bioaccumulation and biomagnification of mercury through food webs. In: Liu G, Cai Y, O'Driscoll N, editors. Environmental chemistry and toxicology of mercury. John Wiley & Sons, Inc.; 2012. p. 455–99.
- Kirk JL, St. Louis VL. Multiyear total and methyl mercury exports from two major sub-Arctic rivers draining into Hudson Bay, Canada. Environ Sci Technol 2009; 43:2254–61.
- Kirk JL, St. Louis VL, Sharp MJ. Rapid reduction and reemission of mercury deposited into snowpacks during atmospheric mercury depletion events at Churchill, Manitoba, Canada. Environ Sci Technol 2006;40:7590–6.
- Kirk JL, St. Louis VL, Hintelmann H, Lehnherr I, Else B, Poissant L. Methylated mercury species in marine waters of the Canadian high and sub Arctic. Environ Sci Technol 2008; 42:8367–73.
- Kirk JL, Lehnherr I, Andersson M, Braune BM, Chan L, Dastoor AP, et al. Mercury in Arctic marine ecosystems: sources, pathways and exposure. Environ Res 2012;119:64–87.
- Kuss J, Schneider B, Variability of the gaseous elemental mercury sea-air flux of the Baltic Sea. Environ Sci Technol 2007;41:8018–23.
- Kuzyk ZA, Goñi MA, Stern GA, Macdonald RW. Sources, pathways and sinks of particulate organic matter in Hudson Bay: evidence from lignin distributions. Mar Chem 2008; 112:215–29.
- Kuzyk ZA, Macdonald RW, Johannessen SC, Gobeil C, Stern GA. Towards a sediment and organic carbon budget for Hudson Bay. Mar Geol 2009;264:190–208.
- Lalonde JD, Amyot M, Kraepiel AML, Morel FMM. Photooxidation of Hg(0) in artificial and natural waters. Environ Sci Technol 2001;35:1367–72.
- Lalonde JD, Amyot M, Doyon MR, Auclair JC. Photo-induced Hg(II) reduction in snow from the remote and temperate Experimental Lakes Area (Ontario, Canada). J Geophys Res-Atmos 2003;108:4200. http://dx.doi.org/10.1029/2001JD001534.
- Lalonde JD, Amyot M, Orvoine J, Morel FMM, Auclair JC, Ariya PA. Photoinduced oxidation of Hg-0 (aq) in the waters from the St. Lawrence estuary. Environ Sci Technol 2004; 38:508–14.
- Larose C, Dommergue A, De Angelis M, Cossa D, Averty B, Marusczak N, et al. Springtime changes in snow chemistry lead to new insights into mercury methylation in the Arctic. Geochim Cosmochim Acta 2010;74:6263–75.
- Lavoie RA, Jardine TD, Chumchal MM, Kidd KA, Campbell L. Biomagnification of mercury in aquatic food webs: a worldwide meta-analysis. Environ Sci Technol 2013;47: 13385–94.
- Lehnherr I, St. Louis VL, Hintelmann H, Kirk JL. Methylation of inorganic mercury in polar marine waters. Nat Geosci 2011;4:298–302.
- Leitch DR, Carrie J, Lean DRS, Macdonald R, Stern AG, Wang F. The delivery of mercury to the Beaufort Sea of the Arctic Ocean by the Mackenzie River. Sci Total Environ 2007; 373:178–95.
- Lindberg S, Brooks S, Lin C-J, Scott KJ, Landis MS, Stevens RK, et al. Dynamic oxidation and gaseous mercury in the Arctic troposphere at polar sunrise. Environ Sci Technol 2002; 36:1245–56.
- Lockhart WL, Wilkinson P, Billeck BN, Danell RA, Hunt RV, Brunskill GJ, et al. Fluxes of mercury to lake sediments in central and northern Canada inferred from dated sediment cores. Biogeochemistry 1998;40:163–73.
- Lockhart WL, Stern GA, Wagemann R, Hunt RV, Metner DA, DeLaronde J, et al. Concentrations of mercury in tissues of beluga whales (*Delphinapterus leucas*) from several communities in the Canadian Arctic from 1981 to 2002. Sci Total Environ 2005a; 351–2:391–412.
- Lockhart WL, Stern GA, Low G, Hendzel M, Boila G, Roach P, et al. A history of total mercury in edible muscle of fish from lakes in northern Canada. Sci Total Environ 2005b;351:427–63.
- Loseto LL. Beaufort Sea beluga whales: an ecological approach to examining diet and dietary sources of mercury. Dept of Zoology. Ph.D. University of Manitoba, Winnipeg; 2007 [155 pp.].
- Loseto LL, Stern GA, Macdonald RM. Distant drivers or local signals: where do mercury trends in western Arctic belugas originate? Sci Total Environ. 2015;509–510: 226–36. [in this issue].
- Loseto LL, Richard P, Stern GA, Orr J, Ferguson SH. Segregation of Beaufort Sea beluga whales during the open-water season. Can J Zool 2006;84:1743–51.

- Loseto LL, Stern GA, Deibel D, Connelly TL, Prokopowicz A, Lean DRS, et al. Linking mercury exposure to habitat and feeding behaviour in Beaufort Sea beluga whales. J Mar Syst 2008a;74:1012–24.
- Loseto LL, Stern GA, Ferguson SH. Size and biomagnification: how habitat selection explains beluga mercury levels. Environ Sci Technol 2008b;42:3982–8.
- Loseto LL, Stern GA, Connelly TL, Deibel D, Gemmill B, Prokopowicz A, et al. Summer diet of beluga whales inferred by fatty acid analysis of the eastern Beaufort Sea food web. J Exp Mar Biol Ecol 2009;374:12–8.
- Lu Y-F, Schroeder W, Barrie LA, Steffen A, Welch HE, Martin A, et al. Magnification of atmospheric mercury deposition to polar regions in springtime: the link to tropospheric ozone depletion chemistry. Geophys Res Lett 2001;28:3219–22.
- Macdonald RW, Loseto LL. Are Arctic Ocean ecosystems exceptionally vulnerable to global emissions of mercury? A call for emphasised research on methylation and the consequences of climate change. Environ Chem 2010;7:133–8.
- Macdonald RW, Thomas DJ. Chemical interactions and sediments of the western Canadian arctic shelf. Cont Shelf Res 1991;11:843–63.
- Macdonald RW, Harner T, Fyfe J. Recent climate change in the Arctic and its impact on contaminant pathways and interpretation of temporal trend data. Sci Total Environ 2005;342:5–86.
- Mallory ML, Braune BM, Wayland M, Gilchrist HG, Dickson DL. Contaminants in common eiders (Somateria mollissima) of the Canadian Arctic. Environ Rev 2004;12:197–218.
- Mann E, Mallory ML, Ziegler S, Tordon R, O'Driscoll NJ. Mercury in Arctic snow: quantifying the kinetics of photochemical oxidation and reduction. Sci Total Environ 2014e. [in this issue].
- Mann E, Ziegler S, Mallory M, O'Driscoll NJ. Mercury photochemistry in snow and implications for Arctic ecosystems. Environ Rev 2014. http://dx.doi.org/10.1139/er-2014-0006.
- Mason RP, Fitzgerald WF. Alkylmercury species in the equatorial Pacific. Nature 1990; 347:457–9.
- Mason RP, Rolfhus KR, Fitzgerald WF. Mercury in the North Atlantic. Mar Chem 1998;61: 37–53.
- Mason RP, Lawson NM, Sheu GR. Mercury in the Atlantic Ocean: factors controlling airsea exchange of mercury and its distribution in the upper waters. Deep-Sea Res II 2001;48:2829–53.
- Mason RP, Kim E-H, Cornwell J, Heyes D. An examination of the factors influencing the flux of mercury, methylmercury and other constituents from estuarine sediment. Mar Chem 2006;102:96–110.
- McKinney MA, Peacock E, Letcher RJ. Sea ice-associated diet change increases the levels of chlorinated and brominated contaminants in polar bears. Environ Sci Technol 2009; 43:4334–9.
- McKinney MA, Letcher RJ, Aars J, Born EW, Branigan M, Dietz R, et al. Regional contamination versus regional diet differences: understanding geographic variation in brominated and chlorinated contaminant levels in polar bears. Environ Sci Technol 2011;45:896–902.
- McMeans BC, Arts MA, Fisk A. Impacts of food web structure and feeding behaviour on mercury exposure in Greenland sharks (*Somniosus microcephalus*). Sci Total Environ 2015;509–510:216–25. [in this issue].
- Michel C, Ingram RG, Harris LR. Variability in oceanographic and ecological processes in the Canadian Arctic Archipelago. Prog Oceanogr 2006;71:379–401.
- Møller AK, Barkay T, Al-Soud WA, Sørensen SJ, Skov H, Kroer N. Diversity and characterization of mercury-resistant bacteria in snow, freshwater and sea-ice brine from the High Arctic. FEMS Microbiol Ecol 2011;75:390–401.
- Monperrus M, Tessier E, Amouroux D, Leynaert A, Huonnic P, Donard OFX. Mercury methylation, demethylation and reduction rates in coastal and marine surface waters of the Mediterranean Sea. Mar Chem 2007;107:49–63.
- Morel FMM, Kraepiel AML, Amyot M. The chemical cycle and bioaccumulation of mercury. Annu Rev Ecol Syst 1998;29:543–66.
- Muir DCG, Wagemann R, Hargrave BT, Thomas DJ, Peakall DB, Norstrom RJ. Arctic marine ecosystem contamination. Sci Total Environ 1992;122:75–134.
- Muir DCG, Braune B, DeMarch B, Norstrom R, Wagemann R, Lockhart L, et al. Spatial and temporal trends and effects of contaminants in the Canadian Arctic marine ecosystem: a review. Sci Total Environ 1999;230:83–144.
- Muir DCG, Wang XW, Bright D, Lockhart L, Kock G. Spatial and temporal trends of mercury and other metals in landlocked char from lakes in the Canadian Arctic archipelago. Sci Total Environ 2005;351:464–78.
- Niki H, Maker PD, Savage CM, Breitenbach LP. A long-path Fourier transform infrared study of the kinetics and mechanism for the HO-radical initiated oxidation of dimethylmercury. J Phys Chem 1983a;87:4978–81.
- Niki H, Maker PS, Savage CM, Breitenbach LP. A Fourier transform infrared study of the kinetics and mechanism for the reaction Cl + CH3HgCH3. J Phys Chem 1983b;87: 3722–4.
- Norstrom RJ, Schweinsberg RE, Collins BT. Heavy metals and essential elements in livers of the polar bear (*Ursus maritimus*) in the Canadian Arctic. Sci Total Environ 1986; 48:195–212.
- Ohizumi H, Miyazaki N. Differences in stable isotope ratios of Dall's porpoises (*Phocoenoides dalli*) between coastal and oceanic areas of the North Pacific. Fish Oceanogr 2010;19:257–61.
- Oliveira CA, Ribeiro CAO, Rouleau C, Pelletier E, Audet C, Tjalve H. Distribution kinetics of dietary methylmercury in the arctic charr (*Salvelinus alpinus*). Environ Sci Technol 1999;33:902–7.
- Outridge PM, Hobson KA, McNeely R, Dyke A. A comparison of modern and preindustrial levels of mercury in the teeth of beluga in the Mackenzie Delta, Northwest Territories, and walrus at Igloolik, Nunavut, Canada. Arctic 2002;55:123–32.
- Outridge PM, Hobson KA, Savelle JM. Changes in mercury and cadmium concentrations and the feeding behaviour of beluga (*Delphinapterus leucas*) near Somerset Island, Canada, during the 20th century. Sci Total Environ 2005;350:106–18.
- Outridge PM, MacDonald RW, Wang F, Stern GA, Dastoor AP. A mass balance inventory of mercury in the Arctic Ocean. Environ Chem 2008;5:89–111.

- Outridge PM, Hobson KA, Savelle J. Long-term changes of mercury levels in ringed seal (*Phoca hispida*) from Amundsen Gulf, and beluga (*Delphinapterus leucas*) from the Beaufort Sea, western Canadian Arctic, Sci Total Environ 2009;407:6044–51.
- Point D, Sonke JE, Day RD, Roseneau DG, Hobson KA, Vander Pol SS, et al. Methylmercury photodegradation influenced by sea-ice cover in Arctic marine ecosystems. Nat Geosci 2011;4:188–94.
- Pongratz R, Heumann KG. Determination of concentration profiles of methyl mercury compounds in surface waters of polar and other remote oceans by GC-AFD. Int J Environ Anal Chem 1998a;71:41–56.
- Pongratz R, Heumann KG. Production of methylated mercury and lead by polar macroalgae – a significant natural source for atmospheric heavy metals in clean room compartments. Chemosphere 1998b;36:1935–46.
- Pongratz R, Heumann K. Production of methylated mercury, lead, and cadmium by marine bacteria as a significant natural source for atmospheric heavy metals in polar regions. Chemosphere 1999;39:89–102.
- Poulain AJ, Lalonde JD, Amyot M, Shead JA, Raofie F, Ariya PA. Redox transformations of mercury in an Arctic snowpack at springtime. Atmos Environ 2004;38:6763–74.
- Poulain AJ, Ni Chadhain SM, Ariya PA, Amyot M, Garcia E, Campbell PGC, et al. Potential for mercury reduction by microbes in the high arctic. Appl Environ Microbiol 2007a;73: 2230–8.
- Poulain AJ, Garcia E, Amyot M, Campbell PGC, Ariya PA. Mercury distribution, partitioning and speciation in coastal vs. inland High Arctic snow. Geochim Cosmochim Acta 2007b;71:3419–31.
- Poulain AJ, Garcia E, Amyot M, Campbell PGC, Raofie F, Ariya PA. Biological and chemical redox transformations of mercury in fresh and salt waters of the high arctic during spring and summer. Environ Sci Technol 2007c;41:1883–8.
- Qureshi A, O'Driscoll NJ, MacLeod M, Neuhold Y-M, Hungerbühler K. Photoreactions of mercury in surface ocean water: gross reaction kinetics and possible pathways. Environ Sci Technol 2010;44:644–9.
- Reeves RR. Distribution, abundance, and biology of ringed seals (*Phoca hispida*): an overview. In: Heide-Jorgensen MP, Lydersen C, editors. Ringed seals in the North Atlantic. NAMMCO Scientific PublicationTromso, Norway: North Atlantic Marine Mammal Commission; 1998, p. 9–45.
- Reist JD, Sawatzky CD. Diversity and distribution of chars, genus Salvelinus, in Northwestern North America in the context of Northern Dolly Varden (Salvelinus malma malma (Walbaum 1792)). Canadian Science Advisory Secretariat Research Document; 2010/ 014. Winnipeg: Fisheries and Oceans Canada; 2010. [p. vi + 18].
- Richard P, Martin AR, Orr J. Study of summer and fall movements and dive behaviour of Beaufort Sea belugas, using satellite telemetry: 1992–1995. Environmental Studies Research Funds No. 134. Calgary; 1997. p. 26.
- Rigét F, Muir D, Kwan M, Savinova T, Nyman M, Woshner V, et al. Circumpolar pattern of mercury and cadmium in ringed seals. Sci Total Environ 2005;351:312–22.
- Rigét F, Dietz R, Born EW, Sonne C, Hobson KA. Temporal trends of mercury in marine biota of west and northwest Greenland. Mar Pollut Bull 2007a;54:72–80.
- Rigét F, Moller P, Dietz R, Nielsen TG, Asmund G, Strand J, et al. Transfer of mercury in the marine food web of West Greenland. J Environ Monit 2007b;9:877–83.
- Rigét F, Braune B, Bignert A, Wilson S, Aars J, Born E, et al. Temporal trends of Hg in Arctic biota, an update. Sci Total Environ 2011;409:3520–6.
- Rigét F, Dietz R, Hobson K. Temporal trends if mercury in Greenland ringed seal populations in a warming climate. [Environ Monit 2012;14:3249–56.
- Rodgers DW. You are what you eat and a little bit more: bioenergetics-based models of methylmercury accumulation in fish revisited. In: Watras CJ, Huckabee JW, editors. Mercury pollution: integration and synthesis. WS/Palo Alto CA: Lewis, Wisconsin; 1994.
- Rodrigues J. The increase in the length of the ice-free season in the Arctic. Cold Reg Sci Technol 2009;59:78–101.
- Routti H, Letcher RJ, Born EW, Branigan M, Dietz R, Evans TJ, et al. Spatial and temporal trends of selected trace elements in liver tissue from polar bears (Ursus maritimus) from Alaska, Canada and Greenland. J Environ Monit 2011;13:2260–7.
- Routti H, Letcher RJ, Born EW, Branigan M, Dietz R, Evans TJ, et al. Food web influence on spatial variation of mercury and other selected trace elements in polar bears (*Ursus maritimus*) from circumpolar subpopulations. Environ Toxicol Chem 2012;31: 2739–47.
- Rush SA, Borga K, Dietz R, Born EW, Sonne C, Evans T, et al. Geographic distribution of selected elements in the livers of polar bears from Greenland, Canada and the United States. Environ Pollut 2008;153:618–26.
- Sanei H, Outridge PM, Goodarzi F, Wang F, Armstrong D, Warren K, et al. Wet deposition mercury fluxes in the Canadian sub-Arctic and southern Alberta, measured using an automated precipitation collector adapted to cold regions. Atmos Environ 2010;44: 1672–81.
- Scheuhammer AM, Wong AHK, Bond D. Mercury and selenium accumulation in common loons (*Gavia immer*) and common mergansers (*Mergus merganser*) from eastern Canada. Environ Toxicol Chem 1998;17:197–201.
- Scheuhammer A, Braune B, Chan HM, Frouin H, Krey A, Letcher R, et al. Recent progress on our understanding of the biological effects of mercury in fish and wildlife in the Canadian Arctic. Sci Total Environ 2015;509–510:91–103. [in this issue].
- Shore RF, Pereira G, Walker LA, Thompson DR. Mercury in nonmarine birds and mammals. In: Beyer WN, Meador J, editors. Environmental contaminants in biota: interpreting tissue concentrations. Second ed. Boca Raton, FL: CRC Press; 2011. p. 603–18.
- Simpson WR, von Glasgow R, Riedel K, Anderson P, Ariya P, Bottenheim J, et al. Halogens and their role in polar boundary-layer ozone depletion. Atmos Chem Phys 2007;7: 4375–418.
- Smith TG. The ringed seal, *Phoca hispida*, of the Canadian Western Arctic. Canadian Bull Fish Aquat Sci; 216: Fisheries and Oceans Canada; 1987. p. 81.
- Smith TG, Armstrong FAJ. Mercury and selenium in ringed and bearded seal tissue from Arctic Canada. Arctic 1978;31:75–84.

Smith TG, Hammill MO, Taugbøl G. A review of the developmental, behavioural and physiological adaptations of the ringed seal, *Phoca hispida*, to life in the Arctic winter. Arctic 1991;44:124–31.

Sommar J, Wängberg L, Berg T, Gårdfeldt K, Munthe J, Richter A, et al. Circumpolar transport and air-surface exchange of atmospheric mercury at Ny-Ålesund (79° N), Svalbard, spring 2002. Atmos Chem Phys 2007;7:151–66.

- Sommar J, Andersson ME, Jacobi H-W. Circumpolar measurements of speciated mercury, ozone and carbon monoxide in the boundary layer of the Arctic Ocean. Atmos Chem Phys 2010;10:5031–45.
- St. Louis VL, Sharp MJ, Steffen A, May A, Barker J, Kirk JL, et al. Some sources and sinks of monomethyl and inorganic mercury on Ellesmere island in the Canadian high Arctic. Environ Sci Technol 2005;39:2686–701.
- St. Louis VL, Hintelmann H, Graydon JA, Kirk JL, Barker J, Dimock B, et al. Methylated mercury species in Canadian high Arctic marine surface waters and snowpacks. Environ Sci Technol 2007;41:6433–41.
- St. Louis VL, Derocher AE, Stirling I, Graydon JA, Lee C, Jocksch E, et al. Differences in mercury bioaccumulation between polar bears (*Ursus maritimus*) from the Canadian high- and sub-Arctic. Environ Sci Technol 2011;45:5922–8.
- St. Pierre KA, Chételat J, Yumvihoze E, Poulain AJ. Temperature and the sulfur cycle control monomethylmercury cycling in high Arctic coastal marine sediments from Allen Bay, Nunavut, Canada. Environ Sci Technol 2014;48:2680–7.
- Steffen A, Douglas T, Amyot M, Ariya P, Aspmo K, Berg T, et al. A synthesis of atmospheric mercury depletion event chemistry in the atmosphere and snow. Atmos Chem Phys 2008;8:1445–82.
- Stein R, Macdonald RW. The organic carbon cycle in the Arctic Ocean. Berlin: Springer Publishing; 2004.
- Stern GA, Macdonald RW. Biogeographic provinces of total and methyl mercury in zooplankton and fish from the Beaufort and Chukchi seas: results from the SHEBA drift. Environ Sci Technol 2005;39:4707–13.
- Stewart DL, Lockhart WL. An overview of the Hudson Bay marine ecosystem. Can Tech Rep Fish Aquat Sci 2005;2586. [p. vi + 487].
- Stewart REA, Campana SE, Jones CM, Stewart BE. Bomb radiocarbon dating calibrates beluga (Delphinapterus leucas) age estimates. Can J Zool 2006;84:1840–52.
- Stirling I. The importance of polynyas, ice edges, and leads to marine mammals and birds. J Mar Syst 1997;10:9-21.
- Sunderland EM, Mason RP. Human impacts on open ocean mercury concentrations. Glob Biogeochem Cycles 2007;21:GB4022. http://dx.doi.org/10.1029/2006GB002876.
- Sunderland EM, Krabbenhoft DP, Moreau JW, Strode SA, Landing WM. Mercury sources, distribution, and bioavailability in the North Pacific Ocean: insights from data and models. Glob Biogeochem Cycles 2009;23:GB2010. http://dx.doi.org/10.1029/2008GB003425.
- Temme C, Baukau J, Schneider B, Aspmo K, Faïn X, Ferrari C, et al. Air/water exchange of mercury in the North Atlantic Ocean during Arctic summer. Extended abstract for the XIII International Conference on Heavy Metals in the Environment, Rio de Janeiro; 2005.

- Tran L, Reist JD, Power M. Total mercury concentrations in anadromous Northern Dolly Varden from the northwestern Canadian Arctic: a historical baseline study. Sci Total Environ 2015;509–510:154–64. [in this issue].
- van der Velden S, Dempson JB, Evans MS, Muir DCG, Power M. Basal mercury concentrations and biomagnification rates in freshwater and marine foodwebs: effects on Arctic charr (Salvelinus alpinus) from eastern Canada. Sci Total Environ 2013a;444: 531–42.
- van der Velden S, Evans MS, Dempson JB, Muir DCG, Power M. Comparative analysis of total mercury concentrations in anadromous and non-anadromous Arctic charr (Salvelinus alpinus) from eastern Canada. Sci Total Environ 2013b;447:438–49.
- van der Velden S, Dempson JB, Power M. Comparing mercury concentrations across a thirty year time span in anadromous and non-anadromous Arctic charr from Labrador, Canada. Sci Total Environ 2015;209–210:165–74. [in this issue].
- Wagemann R, Muir DCG. Concentrations of heavy metals and organochlorines in marine mammals of northern waters: overview and evaluation. Can Tech Rep Fish Aquat Sci, 1279. Winnipeg: Department of Fisheries and Oceans; 1984. [97 pp.].
- Wagemann R, Innes S, Richard PR. Overview and regional and temporal differences of heavy metals in Arctic whales and ringed seals in the Canadian Arctic. Sci Total Environ 1996;186:41–67.
- Wagemann R, Trebacz E, Boila G, Lockhart WL. Methylmercury and total mercury in tissues of arctic marine mammals. Sci Total Environ 1998;218:19–31.
- Wagemann R, Trebacz E, Boila G, Lockhart WL. Mercury species in the liver of ringed seals. Sci Total Environ 2000;261:21–32.
- Wang F, Macdonald RW, Armstrong D, Stern GA. Total and methylated mercury in the Beaufort Sea: the role of local and recent organic remineralization. Environ Sci Technol 2012;46:11821–8.
- Watras CJ, Back RC, Halvorsen S, Hudson RJM, Morrison KA, Wente SP. Bioaccumulation of mercury in pelagic freshwater food webs. Sci Total Environ 1998;219:183–208.
- Whalin LM, Mason RP. A new method for the investigation of mercury redox chemistry in natural waters utilizing deflatable Teflon(r) bags and additions of isotopically labeled mercury. Anal Chim Acta 2006;558:211–21.
- Wiener JG, Krabbenhoft DP, Heinz GH, Scheuhammer AM. Ecotoxicology of mercury. In: Hoffman DJ, Rattner BA, Burton GA, Cairns J, editors. Handbook of ecotoxicology. Boca Raton: Lewis Publishers; 2003. p. 409–63.
- Wolfe M, Schwarzbach S, Sulaiman R. Effects of mercury on wildlife: a comprehensive review. Environ Toxicol Chem 1998;17:146–60.
- Young BG, Loseto LL, Ferguson SH. Diet differences among age classes of Arctic seals: evidence from stable isotope and mercury biomarkers. Polar Biol 2010;33:153–62.
- Zhang T, Hsu-Kim H. Photolytic degradation of methylmercury enhanced by binding to natural organic ligands. Nat Geosci 2010;3:473–6.